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Business Overview and Analysis of Financial Condition and Cash Flows 
AIR WATER INC.

1. Business Overview

During the consolidated fiscal year under review, the Japanese 
economy experienced a slump in consumer spending and business 
activities in the first half, due to the novel coronavirus (hereinafter 
"COVID-19") pandemic. In the second half of the fiscal year, there 
were signs of recovery in some areas due to growth in exports and 
economic stimulus but the outlook remained uncertain, with a 
resurgence of infections from the winter onwards. 

Under these conditions, AIR WATER INC. and its consolidated 
subsidiaries (hereinafter "the Group") fulfilled its responsibility 
of providing a stable supply of industrial gas, medical gas and 
other products which are essential for industry and people's lives, 
based on the implementation of thoroughgoing infection control 
measures and measures in consideration of safety. Meanwhile, 
the COVID-19 crisis led to growth in demand for electronics as 
teleworking and faster 5G networks become more widespread. At 
the same time, COVID-19 has brought about ongoing changes in 
needs, with growing demand for home cooked meals and home 
meal replacement products and increased energy consumption at 
home, in addition to needs for infection control products, especially 
sanitary materials. To adapt to such changes under the new normal 
the Group leveraged its diverse businesses and products to actively 
carve out new markets. It also made groupwide efforts to implement 
work style reform with digital at the core and worked to increase the 
efficiency of business operations. 

In addition, as the foundations for growth over the coming 
decade, we established the Corporate Technology Strategy Center, 
a technology strategy platform for the overall Group, and reformed 
our research and development framework. We also implemented 
structural reforms, merging our eight regional business companies 
to form three new companies, with the aim of building a powerful 
business base which will drive improvement of profitability and 
sustainable business growth in Japan. 

The Group advocates the recycling of global resources and 
strives for the realization of an Earth and society that enables 
future generations to live comfortably. Through its human- and 
environmentally friendly manufacturing activities, the Group 
contributes to society, works to preserve the global environment 
and efficiently use resources such as air and water. Under our 
communication concept, "meeting society's needs with nature's 
blessings," we have promoted initiatives to achieve the sustainable 
development goals (SDGs). An organizational system to facilitate 
Group-wide SDG activities was created by establishing the SDGs 
Promotion Division and the SDGs Implementation Committee 
chaired by the Chairman and CEO. The Group's Sustainability Vision 
was formulated to clarify the goals to be realized by 2050, with 
milestones for the achievement of the SDGs throughout the Group 
companies set for 2030. 

During the first half of the fiscal year, the Group's performance 
was affected by reduced demand due to COVID-19, especially in 
the Industrial Gas Business and the Medical Business in Japan, 
and the overseas engineering business of the Other Businesses 
segment. However, during the second half of the fiscal year, the 
business environment showed continuous improvement in all 

segments, especially in Japan. Under these circumstances, earnings 
improved, largely due to the full-year contribution of the Indian 
industrial gas business in the Industrial Gas Business segment as 
well as the opening-up of new business opportunities, primarily 
infection control products, and reorganization of the production 
structure mainly in the Chemical Business, and the Agriculture 
and Food Business. Further boosted by cost reductions achieved 
through progress on digitalization and workstyle reform, operating 
profit exceeded the year-ago level in all segments except the Other 
Businesses segment, reaching an all-time high. The Group's strength 
as a conglomerate covering diverse business domains that support 
people's lives and livelihoods, including industrial gas, medical 
care & hygiene, energy, agriculture & food products and logistics 
and the strength of its business base which is closely tied to local 
communities were clear for all to see even under the unprecedented 
conditions of the COVID crisis.

As a result, the Group reported revenue for the fiscal year 
under review of ¥806,630 million (99.7％ that of the previous year), 
operating profit of ¥51,231 million (101.2％), and profit attributable 
to owners of parent of ¥27,367 million (89.9％).

Because of the tax law reform that came into force on March 24, 
2021 in India, the amortization of goodwill is no longer permitted in 
the country.

With regard to the treatment of tax effect accounting for 
goodwill based on this tax law reform in India, therefore the financial 
results of AW INDIA in light of the findings of BSR and posted 4,875 
million yen as a deferred tax liability for its goodwill.

As a result, profit and profit attributable to owners of parent for 
the consolidated fiscal year under review will each decrease by 4,715 
million yen.

2. Summary of financial position for current period

Total assets at the end of the consolidated fiscal year under review 
stood at ¥926,821 million, an increase of ¥27,121 million compared 
to the end of the previous consolidated fiscal year due mainly to 
increases in property, plant and equipment. Liabilities stood at 
¥554,431 million, an increase of ¥6,546 million compared to the end 
of the previous consolidated fiscal year due mainly to increases in 
bonds and borrowings. Equity stood at ¥372,389 million, an increase 
of ¥20,574 million compared to the end of the previous consolidated 
fiscal year, due mainly to an increase in other components of equity 
and accumulation of profit attributable to owners of parent.

Equity attributable to owners of parent per share grew from 
¥1,460.00 at the end of the previous consolidated fiscal year to 
¥1,584.86, and ratio of equity attributable to owners of parent to 
total assets was 38.6％ , compared with 36.9％ at the end of the 
previous consolidated fiscal year.
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3. Summary of cash flow for the current period

Cash flows from operating activities was an inflow of ¥76,601 million 
after deducting payments including corporate income taxes from profit 
before tax and allowances for depreciation, which was an increase of 
¥32,817 million compared to that in previous consolidated fiscal year.

Cash flows from investing activities was an outflow of ¥52,699 
million, which was a decrease in expenditures of ¥62,898 million 
compared to the previous consolidated fiscal year, due mainly to a 
decrease in expenditures resulting from purchase of property, plant 
and equipment, Payments for acquisition in subsidiaries resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation and acquisition of businesses, despite 
a decrease in proceeds resulting from the recording of proceeds from 
sale of businesses in the same period of the previous fiscal year.

Cash flows from financial activities was an outflow of ¥20,889 
million, which was an increase in expenditures of ¥80,981 million 
compared to the previous consolidated fiscal year, due mainly to 
dividends paid and Purchase of treasury shares.

As a result of the foregoing, cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 stood at ¥45,983 
million, an increase of ¥4,122 million compared to the end of the 
previous consolidated fiscal year.

4. Risks of Business, etc.

From the standpoint of our Group's business development, risks 
such as the following have the potential of changing our business or 
management situation, and having an important impact on investor 
decision-making. 

Forward-looking statements are judgments by our Group as of 
the end of the current consolidated fiscal year. 

(1) Management strategy risks
Global Business risks
Description of risk
As part of our growth strategy, our Group is engaged in global 
business development through M&A, and we are strengthening our 
global business expansion with a focus on the Asian region where 
economic growth is particularly strong.

However, in conducting our business, business bottlenecks—
due to differences with Japan in terms of language, legal systems, 
tax systems, or social/political risks—may affect the performance or 
financial situation of our Group.

Countermeasures by our Group
We are working to achieve sharing within our Group of information 
on the economic/political/social situation, disputes, legal 
restrictions, management situation, and customers in each of the 
countries we have expanded into. In addition, in June 2019 we 
established the Global Strategy Office and Global Supervisory Office, 
and we are developing a risk management system across our entire 
Group while exploiting the know-how and knowledge we have 
previously acquired through global M&A.

Institutional change risks
Description of risk
In Japan, the trend toward a declining birthrate and aging 
population is advancing at a rapid pace. The government adheres to 
a policy of social security for all generations, aimed at lengthening 
healthy life expectancy, and continuing efforts are being made to 
reform the healthcare system to control and optimize rising medical 
costs. Therefore, in our Medical Business, large scale future revisions 
of medical service fees or drug prices may affect the performance or 
financial situation of our Group.

Countermeasures by our Group
In an environment where there are expected to be continuing 
government measures to optimize medical costs going forward, 
our Medical Business is responding to changing market needs by 
developing and improving products/services to support higher work 
efficiency and improved working practices for medical institutions 
and medical staff.

(2) Business operation risk
Natural disaster risk
Description of risk
Natural disasters (earthquakes, tsunamis, typhoons, torrential 
rains, heavy snowfall, strong winds, volcanic eruptions, etc.) are 
difficult to predict and are occurring with greater frequency. These 
disasters may interrupt lifelines by cutting off power or water 
supplies, or cause breakdown of delivery routes. If a disaster results 
in a reduction or stoppage of production capability, a reduction in 
sales due to delay or stoppage of supply/delivery, costs incurred 
to address problems or to achieve recovery, or costs incurred for 
preventive measures for the future, this may affect the performance 
or financial situation of our Group.

In our Agriculture and Food Products Business, natural disasters 
may impede operation of our processing facilities due to major 
fluctuations in the yield of vegetables, which are a key raw material.

Countermeasures by our Group
As a response to potential natural disasters, the Industrial Gas 
Business of our Group is putting in place a stable supply system 
inside Japan for industrial gases and medical oxygen, through 
decentralized installation of compact liquefied oxygen/nitrogen 
production plants (VSU). We minimize risk by periodically 
conducting disaster prevention drills and bolstering our stockpiles 
of disaster supplies in case of a large-scale natural disaster.

In our Chemical Business, we ensure a reliable supply system by 
increasing the number of production sites, and we always maintain 
product inventory to cover a certain period of time.

In Hokkaido, the main business area for our Energy Business, 
we deploy LP gas-powered mobile power source trucks at LP gas 
receiving terminals, LP gas filling stations, and kerosene terminals, 
and we have established a system to ensure that emergency power 
sources are available even in a power outage.

In our Agriculture and Food Products Business, we are  working 
to spread farming of vegetables to cultivate and procure over 
different areas.
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Quality risks
Description of risk
In a diverse range of industries, our Group provides products, 
merchandise, and services, with quality guaranteed based on 
legal restrictions or agreements with customers. In our Medical 
Business, which is connected especially closely with human life, we 
manufacture, import, and sell medical gases and medical devices 
in accordance with the Act on Securing Quality, Efficacy and Safety 
of Products Including Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices, but 
if product defects arise that lead to recalls or product liability 
damages, we may incur expenses to take countermeasures or pay 
damages, and this may affect the performance or financial situation 
of our Group.

In our Agriculture and Food Products Business, we manufacture 
and sell food products such as frozen food, ham, deli food, 
beverages, and sweets in accordance with the Food Safety Basic 
Act, Food Sanitation Act, Food Labeling Act, and other laws. Also, 
in our Seawater Business, we manufacture food products such as 
salt, seaweed, and furikake rice topping. If a problem arises, such as 
a serious quality accident, we may lose the trust of consumers, and 
incur expenses to take countermeasures or pay damages, etc.

Magnesia for magnetic steel sheets is one of the key products of 
our Seawater Business, and it is positioned upstream in the supply 
chain, with a sales territory covering approximately 40 countries, 
and thus if there is a serious product defect, the impact may be wide 
ranging.

In the global engineering field, which falls under our Other 
Businesses category, one of our businesses is high-power 
uninterruptible power supplies (UPS), and our main product is rotary 
UPS. This business plays a key role in business continuity planning 
(BCP) of data centers, semiconductor manufacturers, and other 
end users, and if a product defect, problem, or other trouble causes 
major damages for a customer, we may incur expenses to take 
countermeasures or pay damages, etc.

Countermeasures by our Group
In our Group's mid-term management plan, NEXT-2020 Final, 
we are committed to strengthening quality compliance as a 
key management challenge, and we strive to minimize risk by 
establishing Quality Compliance Guidelines as a Group-wide 
indicator, and conducting periodic quality risk surveys and quality 
compliance audits.

We ensure preparedness for liability risk attributable to 
quality problems of products and merchandise by maintaining 
comprehensive liability insurance coverage for our company and 
our consolidated subsidiaries in Japan. 

Procurement risks
Description of risk
We use large amounts of electric power in manufacturing oxygen, 
nitrogen, and argon, the mainstay products of our Industrial Gas 
Business. If power costs rise substantially, and those costs cannot 
be passed on in the sales price, there may be an impact on our 
Group's performance. Also, helium gas, a scarce natural resource, 
and CO₂ gas and dry ice, which are produced as by-products 
during processing of their source gases by petroleum refiners and 
other industries, may have an effect on our Group's performance 
due, respectively, to geopolitical factors, or reduction of volume 
due to the operating situation. The purchasing prices of LP gas 
and kerosene, the mainstay products of our Energy Business are 
generally linked with the price of crude oil. If the crude oil price falls 
much further than projected, this may have an effect on our Group's 
performance.

In our Agriculture and Food Products Business, we manufacture 
and sell processed foods whose main ingredients are vegetables 
and pork, and these prices may have an impact due to bad weather 
or changes in supply and demand in the market.

In our Other Businesses, the FIT system in Japan is moving 
toward more stringent monitoring of stable supply and business 
sustainability for suppliers of globally-sourced biomass fuel for 
power generation. Supply and demand are tight for fuels meeting 
standards, and there is a risk of rising fuel prices.

Countermeasures by our Group
Our Group is working to secure revenue by revising sales prices 
in a timely and appropriate manner with the understanding of 
customers. 

Also, to stably secure raw materials and products, we are 
examining steps such as increasing stockpiles in Japan, making 
preparations to commit to alternative fuels, and developing 
procurement routes aside from those that currently exist.

Accident risk
Description of risk
In our Logistics Business, we are engaged in transport of general 
cargo, as well as high-pressure gases and other hazardous items, 
using large vehicles such as trucks and lorries. Therefore, if a serious 
accident occurs, we may be liable for damages, or subject to 
administrative measures such as halting use of vehicles or halting 
business site operations, and this may have an effect on our Group's 
performance.

Countermeasures by our Group
Our Group is actively engaged in measures to promote safety such 
as ensuring thorough operation management, and implementing 
safety education.
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Foreign exchange risk
Description of risk
In our Group, we position global business as the foundation of 
our growth, and we have gained many subsidiaries outside Japan 
through M&A or establishing companies. In particular, at subsidiaries 
involved in our industrial gas-related equipment business, and our 
high-power UPS business (in our Other Businesses category), we are 
globally expanding procurement of raw materials and product sales. 
Therefore, if sudden fluctuations in exchange rates occur, this may 
affect performance or the financial situation of these businesses.

Countermeasures by our Group
In our Group, we strive to minimize foreign exchange risk 
through measures such as exchange contracts, diversification of 
procurement routes, and unification of transaction currencies at 
foreign subsidiaries.

(3) Other risks
Environmental risks
Description of risk
In our business activities both inside and outside Japan, our Group 
is subject to environmental laws and regulations, but if they are 
strengthened due to enactment or amendment, then the resulting 
constraints on business activities, increased costs of compliance, 
and other necessary measures may affect our Group's performance 
or financial situation. This applies especially to the Industrial 
Gas Business, which uses large amounts of electric power in the 
manufacturing process. If carbon taxes are imposed or regulation 
of greenhouse gas (CO₂) emissions is strengthened, e.g., through an 
emissions trading system, it may affect our Group's performance or 
financial situation.

Countermeasures by our Group
In our Group's mid-term management plan, NEXT-2020 Final, we 
have positioned response to climate change as a key management 
challenge, and established a reduction target for total greenhouse 
gas (CO₂) emissions as a key performance indicator (KPI).

Our Group is working to reduce total emissions of greenhouse 
gas (CO₂) by taking steps such as adopting/upgrading high-
efficiency plants and implementing thorough energy-conservation 
activities, so that we can attain our target. 

COVID-19 risk
Description of risk
The worldwide spread of COVID-19 infection is affecting all 
businesses of our Group. It remains unclear when this situation 
will resolve, and if resolution takes a long time, that may have an 
effect on operations of our businesses—including our Industrial Gas 
Business, and the global engineering field of our Other Businesses—
as well as on the performance, financial situation, and cash flow of 
our Group.

Countermeasures by our Group
Our Group is working to reduce costs in all our businesses. Our 
objective is to continue fulfilling our responsibility to stably supply 
industrial gases, medical gases, and other products, while giving the 
utmost consideration to the safety of all Group employees. To that 
end, we are implementing thorough measures to prevent contagion 
and ensure safety such as implementing staggered working hours 
and remote-working, taking body temperature when entering 
buildings, and wearing masks. To maintain sufficient financial 
stability in case economic slowdown continues over the long term, 
we will select M&A and capital investments with extreme care, while 
prudently ascertaining changes in the business environment.

Also we have launched the Corporate Business Innovation 
Division for the purpose of fundamentally revising the work styles 
from new perspectives and thinking that disregard conventional 
lifestyles, values, business systems and ideas. It has thus been 
developing a structure for business reforms including expansion of 
teleworking.

Non-financial asset impairment risk
Description of risk
Our Group has many non-financial assets such as property, plant, 
and equipment, goodwill, and intangible assets. For intangible 
assets (excluding inventory assets, deferred tax assets, etc.), 
we detect the signs of impairment in pertinent assets or cash-
generating units (referred to hereafter as "the assets"), and if there 
are signs of impairment, we estimate the recoverable amount of 
the asset, and conduct an impairment test. For intangible assets, for 
which it is impossible to determine goodwill and the depreciation 
period, we carry out an impairment test every quarter, regardless 
of whether there are signs of impairment. If an impairment loss is 
incurred, this may affect the business development, performance, 
and financial situation of our Group.

Countermeasures by our Group
Through periodic impairment tests of goodwill and intangible 
assets, our Group ascertains and properly handles appraised values.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AIR WATER INC.

Millions of yen

Notes FY2019
(March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(March 31, 2021)

Assets

 Current assets

  Cash and cash equivalents 5 41,861 45,983

  Trade and other receivables 6 187,402 188,664

  Inventories 7 64,415 67,679

  Other financial assets 8 5,794 4,590

  Income taxes receivable 2,990 3,436

  Other current assets 9 30,813 25,411

  Total current assets 333,277 335,767

 Non-current assets

  Property, plant and equipment 10 380,284 403,604

  Goodwill 11 64,005 52,994

  Intangible assets 11 19,352 28,397

  Investments accounted for using equity method 28,503 29,689

  Retirement benefit asset 20 3,088 5,494

  Other financial assets 8 62,365 67,827

  Deferred tax assets 14 7,328 1,250

  Other non-current assets 9 1,494 1,795

  Total non-current assets 566,422 591,053

 Total assets 899,699 926,821



Consolidated Financial Statements | Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 6

Millions of yen

Notes FY2019
(March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(March 31, 2021)

Liabilities and equity

 Liabilities

  Current liabilities

   Trade and other payables 15 137,945 135,716

   Bonds and borrowings 16 105,386 56,636

   Other financial liabilities 18 5,426 6,221

   Income taxes payable 8,510 11,861

   Provisions 17 1,211 893

   Other current liabilities 19 25,020 27,799

   Total current liabilities 283,500 239,128

  Non-current liabilities

   Bonds and borrowings 16 195,648 250,876

   Other financial liabilities 18 38,586 35,501

   Retirement benefit liability 20 9,918 9,727

   Provisions 17 2,354 2,831

   Deferred tax liabilities 14 9,252 8,216

   Other non-current liabilities 19 8,623 8,148

   Total non-current liabilities 264,383 315,302

  Total liabilities 547,884 554,431

 Equity

  Share capital 21 55,855 55,855

  Capital surplus 21 51,077 54,517

  Treasury shares 21 (2,556) (5,947)

  Retained earnings 21 228,854 244,794

  Other components of equity 21 (1,237) 8,578

  Total equity attributable to owners of parent 331,992 357,797

  Non-controlling interests 19,822 14,591

  Total equity 351,815 372,389

 Total liabilities and equity 899,699 926,821
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
AIR WATER INC.

Millions of yen

Notes
FY2019

(From April 1, 2019
 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(From April 1, 2020
 to March 31, 2021)

Continuing operations

 Revenue 24 809,083 806,630

 Cost of sales (628,463) (625,734)

 Gross profit 180,620 180,895

 Selling, general and administrative expenses 25 (135,383) (135,398)

 Other income 26 9,122 6,767

 Other expenses 26 (5,348) (3,321)

 Share of profit of investments accounted for using equity method 1,605 2,287

 Operating profit 50,616 51,231

 Finance income 27 1,395 1,128

 Finance costs 27 (2,181) (2,707)

 Profit before tax 49,830 49,651

 Income tax expense 14 (16,085) (19,292)

 Profit from continuing operations 33,745 30,359

Discontinued operations

 Profit (loss) from discontinued operations 28 (218) 51

Profit 33,526 30,410

Profit attributable to

 Owners of parent 30,430 27,367

 Non-controlling interests 3,095 3,042

 Profit 33,526 30,410

Earnings per share

 Basic earnings (loss) per share 30

  Continuing operations 148.49  Yen 120.75 Yen

  Discontinued operations (1.06) Yen 0.23 Yen

  Basic earnings per share 147.43  Yen 120.98 Yen

 Diluted earnings (loss) per share 30

  Continuing operations 148.26  Yen 120.61 Yen

  Discontinued operations (1.06) Yen 0.23 Yen

  Diluted earnings per share 147.20  Yen 120.84 Yen
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
AIR WATER INC.

Millions of yen

Notes
FY2019

(From April 1, 2019
 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(From April 1, 2020
 to March 31, 2021)

Profit  33,526 30,410

Other comprehensive income  

 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 29 (3,681) 9,473

  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 29 (503) 1,612

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for 
using equity method 29 23 (6)

  Total of items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  (4,160) 11,079

 Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  

  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 29 (3,387) 959

  Effective portion of cash flow hedges 29 2,583 (65)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for 
using equity method 29 42 60

  Total of items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  (761) 955

 Total other comprehensive income (4,922) 12,035

Comprehensive income 28,604 42,445

Comprehensive income attributable to

 Owners of parent 24,438 39,407

 Non-controlling interests 4,165 3,037

 Comprehensive income  28,604 42,445
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Millions of yen

Total equity attributable to owners of parent

Other components of equity

Notes Share capital Capital surplus Treasury shares Retained earnings
Remeasurements of 

defined benefit plans

Exchange differences 
on translation of foreign 

operations

Balance as of April 1, 2019  32,263 36,675 (3,463) 208,183 － (228)

Profit  － － － 30,430 － －

Other comprehensive income 29 － － － － (598) (3,288)

Comprehensive income  － － － 30,430 (598) (3,288)

Issuance of new shares 23,591 23,433 － － － －

Dividends 21 － － － (8,050) － －

Purchase of treasury shares 21 － － (3) － － －

Disposal of treasury shares 21 － 54 910 － － －

Share-based remuneration transactions 22 － － － － － －

Changes in ownership interest  － (2,006) － － － －

Increase (decrease) resulting from 
inclusion of subsidiaries in 
consolidation

－ (15) － (1,393) － －

Changes due to capital increase － － － － － －

Increase by merger － － － 235 － －

Transfer from other components of 
equity to retained earnings  － － － (550) 598 －

Put options written on non-controlling 
interests － (7,064) － － － －

Transfers to nonfinancial assets － － － － － －

Total transactions with owners 23,591 14,401 907 (9,759) 598 －

Balance as of March 31, 2020 55,855 51,077 (2,556) 228,854 － (3,517)
Profit － － － 27,367 － －
Other comprehensive income 29 － － － － 1,678 967

Comprehensive income － － － 27,367 1,678 967
Purchase of treasury shares 21 － － (7,834) － － －
Disposal of treasury shares 21 － 1,976 4,443 － － －
Dividends 21 － － － (10,467) － －
Changes in ownership interest － 667 － － － (0)
Increase (decrease) resulting from 

inclusion of subsidiaries in 
consolidation

－ － － (3,016) － 111

Decrease by merger － － － (200) － －
Transfer from other components of 

equity to retained earnings － － － 2,256 (1,678) －

Put options written on non-controlling 
interests － 797 － － － －

Transfers to nonfinancial assets － － － － － －
Total transactions with owners  － 3,440 (3,391) (11,427) (1,678) 111

Balance as of March 31, 2021  55,855 54,517 (5,947) 244,794 － (2,437)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AIR WATER INC.
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Millions of yen

Total equity attributable to owners of parent

Non-controlling 
interests

Total equity
Other components of equity

Total
Notes

Financial assets 
measured at fair 

value through other 
comprehensive 

income

Effective portion 
of cash flow 

hedges

Share 
acquisition 

rights
Total

Balance as of April 1, 2019  3,948 252 423 4,395 278,053 16,956 295,009

Profit  － － － － 30,430 3,095 33,526

Other comprehensive income 29 (3,617) 1,512 － (5,992) (5,992) 1,069 (4,922)

Comprehensive income  (3,617) 1,512 － (5,992) 24,438 4,165 28,604

Issuance of new shares － － － － 47,025 － 47,025

Dividends 21 － － － － (8,050) (518) (8,569)

Purchase of treasury shares 21 － － － － (3) － (3)

Disposal of treasury shares 21 － － (98) (98) 867 － 867

Share-based remuneration transactions 22 － － 21 21 21 － 21

Changes in ownership interest  － － － － (2,006) (1,177) (3,183)

Increase (decrease) resulting from 
inclusion of subsidiaries in 
consolidation

－ － － － (1,409) 650 (759)

Changes due to capital increase － － － － － 1,474 1,474

Increase by merger － － － － 235 － 235

Transfer from other components of 
equity to retained earnings  (47) － － 550 － － －

Put options written on non-controlling 
interests － － － － (7,064) (1,617) (8,682)

Transfers to nonfinancial assets － (114) － (114) (114) (110) (225)

Total transactions with owners (47) (114) (76) 359 29,500 (1,299) 28,201

Balance as of March 31, 2020 283 1,649 346 (1,237) 331,992 19,822 351,815
Profit － － － － 27,367 3,042 30,410
Other comprehensive income 29 9,387 6 － 12,040 12,040 (4) 12,035

Comprehensive income 9,387 6 － 12,040 39,407 3,037 42,445
Purchase of treasury shares 21 － － － － (7,834) － (7,834)
Disposal of treasury shares 21 － － (21) (21) 6,397 － 6,397
Dividends 21 － － － － (10,467) (377) (10,844)
Changes in ownership interest 93 (0) － 93 760 (8,323) (7,562)
Increase (decrease) resulting from 

inclusion of subsidiaries in 
consolidation

－ － － 111 (2,904) 828 (2,075)

Decrease by merger － － － － (200) － (200)
Transfer from other components of 

equity to retained earnings (577) － － (2,256) － － －

Put options written on non-controlling 
interests － － － － 797 (250) 546

Transfers to nonfinancial assets － (151) － (151) (151) (145) (296)
Total transactions with owners  (484) (151) (21) (2,224) (13,602) (8,268) (21,871)

Balance as of March 31, 2021  9,186 1,504 325 8,578 357,797 14,591 372,389
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AIR WATER INC.

Millions of yen

Notes
FY2019

(From April 1, 2019
 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(From April 1, 2020
 to March 31, 2021)

Cash flows from operating activities
 Profit before tax 49,830 49,651
 Profit (loss) before tax from discontinued operations (220) (12)
 Depreciation and amortization 34,994 39,033
 Gain on bargain purchase (2,089) －
 Interest and dividend income (1,266) (1,012)
 Interest expense 1,935 2,108
 Share of loss (profit) of investments accounted for using equity method (1,605) (2,287)
 Loss (gain) on sale and retirement of fixed assets (736) 277
 Loss on liquidation of business 1,277 －
 Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 11,510 1,170
 Decrease (increase) in inventories (3,741) (2,778)
 Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables (19,662) (1,120)
 Decrease (increase) in contract assets (3,768) 2,042
 Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities (2,942) 1,307
 Other (4,331) 3,993
 Subtotal 59,183 92,375
 Interest and dividends received 1,626 1,560
 Interest paid (1,932) (2,082)
 Income taxes refund (paid) (15,093) (15,251)
 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 43,784 76,601
Cash flows from investing activities
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (61,863) (50,316)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,663 1,707
 Purchase of intangible assets (2,324) (1,711)
 Purchase of investment securities (8,658) (2,781)

Purchase of shares of subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of 
consolidation (17,472) (1,566)

 Payments for loans receivable (17,113) (2,695)
 Collection of loans receivable 18,516 2,002
 Payments for acquisition of businesses (45,928) (54)
 Proceeds from sale of businesses 14,158 －
 Other 2,424 2,716
 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (115,597) (52,699)
Cash flows from financing activities
 Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 31 13,105 (31,284)
 Proceeds from long-term borrowings 31 49,476 63,464
 Repayments of long-term borrowings 31 (21,633) (28,659)
 Proceeds from issuance of bonds 31 10,000 10,000
 Payments for redemption of bonds (250) (10,150)
 Purchase of additional shares of subsidiaries (3,058) (1,840)
 Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions 1,166 1,927
 Repayments of lease liabilities 31 (6,029) (5,946)
 Proceeds from issuance of shares 46,955 －
 Purchase of treasury shares (3) (7,834)
 Dividends paid 21 (8,029) (10,463)
 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (2,703) (787)
 Other 31 1,984 685
 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 80,981 (20,889)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (669) 97
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,499 3,110
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents resulting from change in 

scope of consolidation 1,253 1,011

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 32,108 41,861
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5 41,861 45,983
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AIR WATER INC.

1. Reporting Entity

2. Basis for Preparation

Air Water Inc. (the "Company") is a stock company located in Japan. 
The registered address of the Company's head office is Chuo-ku, 
Osaka.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") end their fiscal 
year on March 31. The consolidated financial statements includes 
the Company and the Group's interests in associates and joint 
arrangements.

The Group manufactures and sells products and services 
related to businesses that include industrial gas, chemical, medical, 
energy, agriculture and food products, logistics, seawater and other 
businesses. For details of each business, see Note 4. "Operating 
Segments."

(1) Statement of compliance with IFRS
The Group prepares the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. Having met the requirements for a "Specified 
Company under the Designated International Accounting 
Standards" prescribed in Article 1-2 of the Regulation on the 
Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods of Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Company has adopted the provisions of 
Article 93 of the regulation.

(2) Basis for measurement
The Group's consolidated financial statements, with the exception 
of retirement benefit liability (asset) and financial instruments 
measured at fair value stated in Note 3, "Significant Accounting 
Policies," have been prepared using a historical cost basis.

(3) Functional currency and presentation currency
The presentation currency used in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements is Japanese yen, which is the Company's functional 
currency. Any amounts below one million yen are rounded down.

(4) Approval of the consolidated financial statements
The Group's consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
chairman of the Company on June 25, 2021.

(5)  Significant accounting estimates and judgments that 
involve estimations

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group, management is required to make certain judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions in the process of applying accounting 
policies and in determining the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. The effects of revisions to the accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates were revised 
and in future periods affected by the revisions.

Accounting judgments, estimates, and assumptions that 
may have significant effects on the Group's consolidated financial 
statements are as follows.

-  Impairment of nonfinancial assets (Note 12. "Impairment of 
Nonfinancial Assets")

- Recoverability of deferred tax assets (Note 14. "Income Taxes")
-  Measurement of defined benefit obligations (Note 20. 

"Employee Benefits")
-  Fair market value of financial instruments (Note 23. "Financial 

Instruments")
-  Contingent liability (Note 36. "Contingencies")
In making accounting estimates, the business environment in 

the next fiscal year ending March 2022 remains uncertain at present 
due to the impact of the re-spread of COVID-19, however, the Group 
expects both domestic and overseas growth trends in the second 
half of the fiscal year due to progress in vaccination in each country 
and economic measures. However, impairment of nonfinancial 
assets, involving significant judgments and assumptions, involves 
uncertainties over the estimation of future cash flows due to 
the spread of COVID-19 and other factors, and thus the Group's 
estimates may be revised in future periods.

(6)  Changes in presentation (Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows)

"Payments for redemption of bonds" and "Purchase of treasury 
shares," which were included in "Other" under "Cash flows from 
financing activities" in the previous fiscal year, are presented 
separately from the fiscal year under review due to an increase in 
their monetary materiality. To reflect this change in presentation, the 
consolidated financial statements for the previous fiscal year have 
been reclassified.

Consequently, 1,731 million yen, which was presented as "Other" 
under "Cash flows from financing activities" in the consolidated cash 
flow statements for the previous fiscal year, has been reclassified 
into "redemption of bonds" -250 million yen, "Purchase of treasury 
shares" 3 million yen and "Other" 1,984 million yen.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies

(1) Basis of consolidation
1) Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. When the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
an investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee, the Group controls the investee entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
financial statements of group companies prepared in accordance 
with standardized accounting policies of the Group are used. If the 
accounting policies applied to a subsidiary are different from those 
applied to the Group, adjustments are made to the subsidiary's 
financial statements where necessary.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of subsidiaries with fiscal year-ends that differ from that 
of the Company as it is practically impossible to align their fiscal 
year-ends with that of the parent because local laws require a fiscal 
year-end date that is different from that of the Company.

The difference between such subsidiaries' fiscal year-ends and 
that of the Company does not exceed three months. Significant 
effects on transactions or events that occur because of the difference 
in the fiscal year-end are adjusted for.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when the 
Group acquires control to the date when it loses control over the 
subsidiaries.

Intragroup transactions, and receivable and payable balances 
and unrealized gains or losses arising from intragroup transactions 
are eliminated.

Changes in interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, and the 
difference between adjustments of non-controlling interests and 
the fair market value of consideration is directly recognized as equity 
attributable to the owners of the parent.

If the changes result in the loss of control, the Group recognizes 
them at fair value on the date of losing control over the remaining 
investment. Any gains or losses from the loss of control are 
recognized in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of subsidiaries are 
identified separately from the Group's interests. The comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the parent and 
non-controlling interests even if the balance of non-controlling 
interests is negative.

2) Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group exerts significant 
influence over financial and operating policies without having 
control or joint control of the entity.

The Group accounts for investments in associates using the 
equity method.

Under the equity method, investments in associates are 
recognized at the acquisition cost at the time of acquisition and 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the Group's share of changes in 
the associates' net assets and accounted for in the consolidated 
statements of the financial position.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss reflects the Group's 
share of the associates' results. The Group's share of any changes in 
amounts recognized in associates' other comprehensive income is 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Adjustments are made in the consolidated financial statements 
to eliminate the Group's share in unrealized gains or losses arising 
from transactions between it and the associates.

The consolidated financial statements include investments in 
equity method investees having a different fiscal year-end because 
applying the same fiscal year-end is practically impossible as a 
result of the relationships with other shareholders. The difference 
between such associates' fiscal year-ends and that of the Company 
does not exceed three months. Significant effects on transactions or 
events that occur because of the difference in the fiscal year-end are 
adjusted for.

If the Group loses significant influence over an associate, it 
measures and recognizes the remaining investment at fair value as 
of the date of losing such influence. Any gains or losses from the loss 
of significant influence are recognized in profit or loss.

3) Joint arrangements
A joint arrangement is an arrangement in which unanimous 
consensus of the parties having joint control is required for decision-
making over related activities.

A joint venture is a joint agreement under which parties with 
joint control over an arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement.

If the Group holds an equity interest in a joint venture, the 
Group accounts for the interest using the equity method.

A joint operation is one in which jointly controlling parties 
effectively have rights to assets and obligations for liabilities related 
to a joint arrangement.

If the Group holds an interest in a joint operation, the Group 
recognizes, regarding its investment in the joint operation, assets, 
liabilities, revenues, and expenses generated from jointly controlled 
operating activities, only to the extent of its interest.

Transactions with joint operations and receivable and 
payable balances and unrealized gains or losses arising from such 
transactions are eliminated.

The Group judges that Sakai Gas Center, Inc., is a joint operation.
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(2) Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition 
method.

The consideration transferred is measured as the sum of the 
acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the acquirer, 
the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the acquirer.

For each business combination, the Group measures non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or the amount 
of non-controlling interests in the fair value of the acquiree's 
identifiable net assets.

Costs related to business combinations are recognized as 
expenses at the time they occur.

When the Group acquires a business, the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed are classified and designated based on the terms 
of the agreement, economic conditions and other related conditions. 
The Group measures the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed at 
acquisition date fair value.

If a business combination has been carried out in phases, the 
interests the Group held before acquiring control of the acquiree are 
reevaluated at fair value on the acquisition date, and the valuation 
difference is recognized in profit or loss.

The amount of interests in the acquiree recorded in other 
comprehensive income before the acquisition date is accounted for 
by the same method as for disposal by the acquirer of the interests.

Goodwill is recognized as the total amount recognized as 
consideration transferred and non-controlling interests in excess of 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

If the total amount recognized as consideration transferred and 
non-controlling interests is lower than the net amount of identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the difference is recognized 
as profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill acquired through a business 
combination is not amortized and is presented at the amount of 
initial recognition less accumulated impairment loss. Impairment 
tests of goodwill are conducted annually and each time an indication 
of impairment appears.

(3) Foreign currency translation
 The presentation currency used in the Group's consolidated 
financial statements is Japanese yen, which is the Company's 
functional currency. Each of Group entities sets their own functional 
currency, and the transactions of each company are measured in 
that functional currency. Transactions denominated in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency using the spot 
exchange rate on the transaction date or an exchange rate that 
approximates it.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the functional currency using the 

spot exchange rate at the fiscal year-end. Translation differences 
resulting from such translation and their settlement are recognized 
in profit or loss. However, translation differences arising from equity 
instruments measured through other comprehensive income and 
cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Assets and liabilities, as well as revenues and expenses, of 
foreign operations are translated into yen using the spot exchange 
rate at the fiscal year-end, and the spot exchange rate on the 
transaction date or a rate that approximates the exchange rate, 
respectively, and the translation differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

If foreign operations are disposed of, accumulated translation 
differences related to the foreign operations are recognized in profit 
or loss in the fiscal year in which they are disposed of.

(4) Financial instruments
1) Financial assets (excluding derivatives)
(i) Initial recognition and measurement
The Group initially recognizes trade receivables on the date of their 
accrual. All other financial assets are initially recognized on the 
date on which the Group becomes a party to the agreement on the 
financial assets.

The Group classifies financial assets as (a) financial assets 
measured at the amortized cost, (b) financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, or (c) financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. This classification is 
determined at the initial recognition of the financial assets.

The costs of the transactions in financial instruments measured 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred. All other financial instruments are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs. However, trade receivables are 
measured at the transaction price.
(a) Financial assets measured at the amortized cost
Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at the 
amortized cost if they meet both of the following criteria:

-  They are held based on a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows

-  The contractual terms of these instruments give rise to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding on a specified date.

(b)  Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

-  Debt instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

 Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income if they meet 
both of the following criteria:
-  They are held based on a business model whose objective is to 
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collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets.
-  The contractual terms of these instruments give rise to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding on a specified date.

-  Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Stocks and other equity instruments held mainly for the 
purpose of maintaining and strengthening business relationships 
with investees are designated as financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income, and the designation is 
applied continuously.
(c) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets other than financial assets measured at amortized 
cost or financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are classified as financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

However, in cases in which an accounting mismatch is 
eliminated or significantly reduced by designating financial assets 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss as financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the Group may 
irrevocably designate them as financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss at initial recognition.
(ii) Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial assets are measured according to 
their classification as follows.
(a) Financial assets measured at the amortized cost
Financial assets measured at the amortized cost are measured at the 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
(b)  Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income
Financial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income are measured at fair value, and fair value 
changes are recognized in other comprehensive income.

However, fair value changes in equity instruments measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in 
other comprehensive income and, if they are derecognized or the 
fair value significantly declines, reclassified to retained earnings.
(c) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

After initial recognition, financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and fair value 
changes are recognized in profit or loss.
(iii) Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual 
rights to cash flows from the financial asset expire or when the 
Group transfers such rights and all the risks and economic value of 
ownership of the financial asset are substantially transferred.

If the Group retains control over the financial asset transferred 
without substantially transferring the risks and economic value 
of ownership or holding them, the financial asset continues to be 
recognized to the extent of continued involvement. In such case, 
related liabilities are also recognized.

(iv) Impairment
The Group measures the impairment of financial assets based on 

whether at each fiscal year-end there have been significant increases 
in credit risk since initial recognition with respect to financial assets 
measured at the amortized cost.

If there have been no significant increases in credit risk since the 
initial recognition with respect to financial assets measured at the 
amortized cost, 12- month expected credit losses are recognized in 
the provision for doubtful accounts. However, for trade receivables, 
expected credit losses over the remaining period are initially 
recognized.

On the other hand, if there have been significant increases since 
initial recognition, the expected credit losses over the remaining 
period are recognized in the provision for doubtful accounts.

The Group decides whether there have been significant 
increases in credit risk or not based on changes in the default risk, 
and the Group mainly considers delinquency (past due information) 
in deciding whether there have been changes in the default risk.

The Group decides that a default has occurred when events that 
have a detrimental impact on the future cash flows of financial assets 
have occurred such as that the obligor is long past a contractual 
payment due date.

The Group treats any financial asset as a credit-impaired 
financial asset if the obligor is experiencing significant financial 
difficulties, bankruptcy or other legal liquidation procedures begin 
with respect to the obligor, or other similar events occur.

The Group estimates the expected credit losses in a way that 
reflects reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort on the reporting date with regard to 
the time value of money, past events, current conditions, forecasts 
of future economic conditions and similar factors.

Expected credit losses are measured based on the discounted 
present value of the difference between an amount due to the 
Group under the contract and an amount the Group expects to 
receive based on past credit losses and similar factors.

When the collection of receivables cannot be reasonably 
assumed, such as in cases in which receivables are legally 
extinguished, the carrying amount of the financial assets are directly 
written off.

2) Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives)
(i) Initial recognition and measurement

The Group classifies financial liabilities other than derivatives as 
financial liabilities measured at the amortized cost. Classifications 
are determined at the initial recognition. All financial liabilities are 
initially recognized on the date on which the Group becomes a party 
to the agreement on the financial liabilities.
(ii) Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities measured at the amortized cost are measured 
at the amortized cost using the effective interest method after the 
initial recognition. Amortization under the effective interest method 
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and gains or losses on derecognition are recognized in profit or loss.
(iii) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is 
discharged, canceled or expired, or when they are exchanged with 
substantially different terms or their terms are modified substantially.
(iv) Put options granted to non-controlling shareholders

When the Group grants put options to non-controlling 
shareholders, the Group derecognizes non-controlling interests in 
the put options, recognizes the present value of the put options' 
redemption amount in financial liabilities and recognizes the 
difference in capital surplus. Changes after initial recognition are 
recognized in capital surplus.

3) Derivatives and hedge accounting
The Group uses forward exchange contracts and interest rate swap 
contracts as derivatives to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate 
risks. These derivatives are initially measured at fair value when the 
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value.

Fair value changes of derivatives are recognized in profit or loss. 
However, the effective portion of cash flow hedges is recognized in 
other comprehensive income.

At the inception of a hedge, the Group formally designates and 
documents the hedging relationship to which hedge accounting 
applies and the objectives and strategies of risk management for 
undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identifying any 
specific hedging instrument, the hedged items or transactions, the 
nature of the risks being hedged and the method of assessing the 
effectiveness of the hedging instrument in offsetting the exposure 
to changes in fair value or cash flows of hedged items attributable to 
hedged risks. At the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, 
the Group assesses whether a derivative used in a hedge transaction 
is effective to offset changes in the fair value or the cash flow of the 
hedged item. Specifically, the Group determines that a hedge is 
effective when the economic relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument is offset.

Hedges that meet the strict requirements for hedge accounting 
are classified as follows in accordance with IFRS 9 "Financial 
Instruments".

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments 

is recognized in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective 
portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The amounts of hedging instruments recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss when the 
transactions of the hedged items affect profit or loss. When hedged 
items result in the recognition of nonfinancial assets or liabilities, 
the amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are 
accounted for as adjustments to the original carrying amount of the 
nonfinancial assets or liabilities.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised without replacement or rollover into another hedging 
instrument or when the hedge designation is revoked because of 
a change in the risk management objective, accumulated amounts 
that have been recognized as equity through other comprehensive 
income continue to be recognized in equity until the forecast 
transaction occurs or is no longer expected to occur.

When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
accumulated gains or losses originally recognized as equity through 
other comprehensive income are reclassified in profit or loss.

4) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active 
financial markets at the fiscal year-end refers to quoted market 
prices or dealer quotations.

The fair value of financial instruments without active markets is 
calculated in reference to appropriate valuation techniques or prices 
presented by related financial institutions.

(5) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term investments redeemable within three months of the 
date of acquisition that are readily convertible into cash and exposed 
to only insignificant risk of change in value.

(6) Inventories
The acquisition cost of inventories includes purchase costs, 
processing costs and all other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition.

Inventories are measured at the lower of the acquisition cost 
and net realizable value. The weighted average cost formula is 
mainly used to calculate the cost. The Group calculates net realizable 
value by deducting the estimated costs required for completion 
and the estimated costs required to make a sale from the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business.

(7) Property, plant and equipment
The Group uses the cost model to measure property, plant and 
equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are presented at the acquisition 
cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.

The acquisition cost includes the costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of assets, costs of dismantlement, removal and 
restoration, and borrowing costs that satisfy the capitalization 
criteria.

Any property, plant and equipment except for land is 
depreciated over the estimated useful life using mainly the straight-
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line method. The useful life and method used to depreciate the 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the fiscal year-end, 
and any change is applied prospectively as a change in accounting 
estimates.

For the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, the 
estimated useful life is as follows:

Buildings and structures: 2 to 65 years
Machinery and vehicles: 2 to 65 years
Tools, furniture and fixtures: 1 to 38 years

(8) Intangible assets
The Group uses the cost model to measure intangible assets.

Intangible assets are presented at the acquisition cost less any 
accumulated amortization and impairment loss.

Intangible assets separately acquired are measured at the 
acquisition cost at initial recognition, and the acquisition cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured 
at the acquisition-date fair value. Expenditures on internally 
generated intangible assets are all recognized as expenses in the 
fiscal year in which they are incurred, excluding development 
expenses that satisfy the criteria for capitalization.

The Group amortizes intangible assets with finite useful lives 
using the straight-line method over their useful lives. The Group 
performs an impairment test each time there is an indication of 
impairment. The useful life and amortization method of intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at the fiscal year-end, 
and any change is applied prospectively as a change in accounting 
estimates.

For the amortization of intangible assets, the estimated useful 
life is as follows:

Software: 2 to 16 years
Other intangible assets: 1 to 50 years

Of the intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and 
intangible assets not yet available for use, trademarks are judged 
to have indefinable useful lives as they essentially continue to exist 
as long as the business continues and thus the period over which 
future economic benefits will continue to flow cannot be predicted.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are not amortized, and tested for 
impairment individually or by cash-generating unit in each fiscal 
year and whenever there is any indication of impairment.

(9) Leases
1) Leases as lessee
The Group determines whether a contract includes a lease or not at 
the inception of the contract.

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at 
the lease inception date.

Right-of-use assets are initially recognized at the acquisition 
cost at the lease inception date. The acquisition cost is calculated as 
the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for 
any lease payments made at or before the inception date, plus initial 
direct costs incurred and the estimated costs of the dismantlement 
and removal of underlying assets or the restoration of underlying 
assets or the site on which the underlying assets are located, less 
lease incentives already received. After initial recognition, right-of-
use assets are measured at the acquisition cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment loss using the cost model. When the 
ownership of the underlying assets is transferred to the lessor by 
the end of the lease term or when the acquisition cost of right-of-
use assets reflect the exercise of a purchase option, the right-of-
use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over a 
period from the inception date to the end of their useful lives. In 
other cases, right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-
line method over a period from the inception date to the end of 
useful lives of the right-of-use assets or to the end of the lease 
term, whichever is shorter. The estimated useful life of right-of-
use assets is determined in the same way as for property, plant and 
equipment owned by the Group. Furthermore, right-of-use assets 
are reduced by the amount of impairment loss, if any, and adjusted 
for remeasurement of specified lease liabilities.

At the inception date, lease liabilities are measured at the 
present value of the lease payments that have not been paid as of 
that date. Subsequent to the inception date, the carrying amount 
is changed to reflect interest rates on lease liabilities and lease 
payments paid. When lease liabilities are reviewed or lease terms are 
changed, the lease liabilities are remeasured and the right-of-use 
assets are adjusted accordingly.

Total lease payments included in the measurement of lease 
liabilities comprise the following:

-  Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
-  Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, 

initially measured using the index or rate at the inception date 
-  The amount expected to be payable under residual value 

guarantee
-  The exercise price of purchase options if the Group is 

reasonably certain to exercise the options; lease payments 
during the term of options if the Group is reasonably certain 
to exercise extension options and payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease early (excluding cases in which it is 
reasonably certain that the Group will not terminate the lease 
early)
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The Group measures lease liabilities at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. The Group re-measures lease liabilities 
when future lease payments change because of changes in an index 
or rate, expected payments under the residual value guarantee 
change or a determination on whether to exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option changes.

When the Group re-measures lease liabilities, corresponding 
adjustments are made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
assets. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to 
zero, recognized in profit or loss.

For short-term leases of machines with a term of 12 months or 
less and leases of low-value assets, the Group elects not to recognize 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The Group recognizes lease 
payments for these leases as expenses using the straight-line 
method over their lease term.

2) Sale and leaseback transactions
 For sale and leaseback transactions, the Group determines whether 
a transfer of an asset from the seller-lessee to buyer-lessor qualifies 
as a sale based on IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" 
("IFRS 15"). If the transfer qualifies as an asset sale, the seller-lessee 
measures a right-of-use asset arising from the leaseback based on 
the carrying amount of the asset and recognizes the gain or loss only 
on the portion not leased back. If the transfer does not qualify as an 
asset sale, the seller-lessee accounts for it as a financial transaction 
by continuing to recognize the asset transferred and recognizing 
a financial liability in the same amount as the proceeds from the 
transfer.

(10) Impairment of nonfinancial assets
1) Impairment of nonfinancial assets
The Group determines whether there is any indication of impairment 
for assets at the fiscal year-end. If any indication of impairment 
exists for an asset and if an asset needs to be tested for impairment 
annually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. 
The Group calculates the recoverable amount at the higher of fair 
value less costs of disposal and the value in use. If it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount by the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. If the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit is more than its recoverable amount, an impairment 
is recognized for the asset, and its value is written down to the 
recoverable amount. Value in use is calculated by discounting the 
estimated future cash flows to the present value using the pretax 
discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the 
time value of money and risks specific to the asset. Business plans 
used to estimate future cash flows extend no more than five years, 
and future cash flows beyond the forecast period are calculated 
based on a long-term average growth rate according to individual 
circumstances.

Fair value less costs of disposal is calculated using appropriate 
valuation models backed by available indicators of fair value.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination from the 
acquisition date.

Goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
every year and each time there is an indication of impairment.

2) Reversal of impairment loss
At the fiscal year-end, the Group evaluates whether there is any 
indication that impairment loss recognized in prior years for assets 
other than goodwill has decreased or may no longer exist, such 
as whether assumptions used to measure recoverable amounts 
have changed. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset, cash-generating unit is estimated. If the recoverable 
amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, cash-generating 
unit, a reversal of impairment loss is recognized to the lower of the 
recoverable amount or the carrying amount less the depreciation 
and amortization that would have been recognized had no 
impairment loss been recognized in prior periods. Impairment loss 
reversals are recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill impairment loss is not reversed.

(11)  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as "Non-
current assets held for sale" if its carrying amount is expected to be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This applies only if a sale is highly probable within 
one year and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition. The Group measures a non-current 
asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower of the 
carrying amount and fair value less the cost to sell.

Of assets classified as held for sale, the Group does not 
depreciate or amortize property, plant or equipment or intangible 
assets.

Discontinued operations include components that have been 
disposed of or are classified as held for sale. The Group recognizes an 
operation as discontinued if it is a Group business and there is a plan 
for disposal of the business.
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(12) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part 
of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are all recognized as 
expenses in the fiscal year in which they are incurred.

(13) Employee benefits
1) Retirement benefits
The Company and some of its consolidated subsidiaries have 
adopted funded and non-funded defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans to provide for employee retirement benefits.

The Group calculates the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation as well as related current and prior service costs for each 
plan individually using the projected unit credit method.

The discount rate is calculated based on yields on high-quality 
corporate bonds at the fiscal year-end.

Assets and liabilities related to defined benefit plans are 
calculated as the net amount of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets considering the 
effect of the asset ceiling.

Remeasurements of assets and liabilities related to defined 
benefit plans are recognized in their entirety in other comprehensive 
income for the period in which they occur and are immediately 
reflected in retained earnings. Prior service costs are recognized as 
expenses for the period in which they are incurred.

Contributions related to defined contribution plans are 
recognized as expenses in the period in which the relevant service is 
provided by employees.

2) Other long-term employee benefits
Special leave for a certain number of service years and an annual 
special leave program have been adopted as other long-term 
employee obligations.

The obligation for other long-term employee benefits is 
recorded in an estimated amount of future benefits earned as 
consideration for services provided by employees in the past and 
current years and discounted to the present value.

(14) Provisions
A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is likely that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliability.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 
provision is measured at the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligations. The discount rate 

used in measuring the present value is a pretax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
inherent in the liability.

(15) Equity
1) Common shares
The issue price of common shares is accounted for in the share 
capital and capital surplus.

2) Treasury shares
When the Company acquires treasury shares, the consideration paid 
is recognized as a deduction from equity.

When the Company disposes of treasury shares, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration at the time of 
disposal is recognized in capital surplus.

(16) Share-based remuneration
The Company has adopted a stock option plan and a restricted 
share-based remuneration plan as equity-settled, share-based 
remuneration plans.

Stock options are recognized as expenses over a period from 
the grant date to the vesting date with an equal amount recognized 
as an increase in equity. The fair value of stock options is measured 
at the vesting date using the Black-Scholes model.

Shares with transfer restrictions are recognized as expenses 
over a period from the grant date to the vesting date with an 
equal amount recognized as an increase in equity. The fair value of 
restricted share-based remuneration is measured at the grant date 
referring to the fair value of the equity instrument granted.

(17) Revenue
In association with the application of IFRS 15, the Group recognizes 
revenue in accordance with the following five-step approach.

Step 1: Identify the contract with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract
Step 5:  Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a 

performance obligation

The Group operates an Industrial Gas Business, Chemical 
Business, Medical Business, Energy Business, Agriculture and Food 
Products Business, Logistics Business, Seawater Business, and Other 
Businesses.

The Industrial Gas Business manufactures and sells oxygen, 
nitrogen, argon and other industrial gases. It also constructs high-
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pressure gas facilities and manufactures and installs gas production 
equipment. The Chemical Business manufactures and sells functional 
chemicals and other products. The Medical Business manufactures 
and sells oxygen, nitrogen and other medical gasses. It also operates 
medical equipment and hospital facility construction businesses. 
The Energy Business sells petroleum products, such as liquefied 
petroleum gas and kerosene. The Agriculture and Food Products 
Business wholesales and processes fresh vegetables, manufactures 
and sells frozen food and processed meat products and 
manufactures soft drinks on consignment. The Logistics Business 
provides high-pressure gas, general cargo, food, medical and 
environment transport services as well as warehouse/distribution 
processing services and the production of specialty vehicles. The 
Seawater Business manufactures and sells salt and byproducts of 
salt production as well as fused magnesia and magnesium oxide. 
Other Businesses include the aerosol business and information and 
electronic materials business.

1) Sales of goods
The Group determines that it has satisfied its performance 
obligations at the time of delivery, the time at which customers 
obtain control of the products, and thus recognizes revenue 
at the time of delivery. Revenue is measured at the amount of 
consideration promised in a contract with the customer less any 
discounts, rebates, sales returns and the like.

2) Provision of services and equipment installation contracts
If any of the requirements below apply, the control of services is 
transferred over time, and thus the Group determines whether 
it satisfies its performance obligation over time and recognizes 
revenue according to progress toward the satisfaction of the 
performance obligation. As for the method of measuring progress, 
the Group considers the nature of the goods or services transferred 
to the customer.

-  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group 
performs. 

-  The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for 
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced. 

-  The Group's performance does not create an asset with an 
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable 
right to payment for performance completed to date. 

If the requirements above are not satisfied, the Group's 
performance obligation is determined to be satisfied at a time when 
the Group obtains the right to receive the payment of consideration 
from the customer by completing the provision of services, and thus 
recognizes revenue at that point. 

Revenue is measured at an amount of consideration promised 
in a contract with the customer less any discounts, rebates, sales 
returns and the like.

The consideration in product sales contracts is generally 
collected within one year from the time of the transfer of control 
over the products to the customer and does not include any 
significant interest.

(18) Government grants
Government grants are recognized at fair value when there is 
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the grant 
terms and receive the grant.

Government grants related to revenue are recognized in profit 
or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are 
intended to compensate.

Government grants related to assets are recognized as deferred 
income that is recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over 
the useful life of the assets.

(19) Income taxes
The Group calculates current tax liabilities or assets as amounts for 
the current and prior periods that it expects to pay to or recover 
from taxation authorities. The Group uses tax rates and tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted by the fiscal year-end to determine 
tax amounts.

The Group calculates deferred taxes based on differences 
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts on the accounts at the fiscal year-end (temporary 
differences).

In principle, the Group recognizes deferred tax liabilities for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
credit and tax loss carryforwards can be used.

As exceptions, however, the Group does not recognize deferred 
tax assets or deferred tax liabilities for the following temporary 
differences:

-  Taxable temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of goodwill

-  Temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability arising in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting profit nor taxable 
income (or tax loss)

-  Deductible temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements 
to the extent that in the foreseeable future it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse or the probability 
is low that taxable income against which the temporary 
difference will be used will be earned

-  Taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements 



AIR WATER REPORT 2021 Financial Section21

to the extent that the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Group and that it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future

The Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities (including unrecognized deferred tax assets) at 
the fiscal year-end. The Group calculates deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the fiscal year-end and estimates the tax rates in the 
period in which assets materialize or liabilities are settled.

(20) Earnings per share
The Group calculates basic earnings per share by dividing the profit 
or loss attributable to the Company's common shareholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares issued that have been 
adjusted for treasury shares during the year. The Group calculates 
diluted earnings per share by adjusting the effects of all potentially 
dilutive shares.
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4. Operating Segments

(1) Overview of reportable segments
The Group's reportable segments are components of the Company 
on which separate financial information can be obtained and 
are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors for the purpose 
of management resource allocation and business performance 
evaluation.

The Group operates its business by formulating comprehensive 
strategies by product and service.

Accordingly, the Company, which consists of operating 
segments by product and service, has the following eight reportable 
segments: the Industrial Gas Business, Chemical Business, Medical 
Business, Energy Business, Agriculture and Food Products Business, 
Logistics Business, Seawater Business, and Other Businesses.

The Industrial Gas Business manufactures and sells oxygen, 
nitrogen, argon and other industrial gases. It also constructs high-
pressure gas facilities and manufactures and installs gas production 
equipment.

The Chemical Business manufactures and sells basic chemicals, 
fine chemicals and other products.

The Medical Business manufactures and sells oxygen, nitrogen 
and other medical gasses. It also operates medical equipment and 
hospital facility construction businesses.

The Energy Business sells petroleum products, such as liquefied 
petroleum gas and kerosene.

The Agriculture and Food Products Business wholesales and 
processes fresh vegetables, manufactures and sells frozen food 
and processed meat products and manufactures soft drinks on 
consignment.

The Logistics Business provides high-pressure gas, general 
cargo, food, medical and environment transport services as well as 
warehouse/distribution processing services and the production of 
specialty vehicles.

The Seawater Business manufactures and sells salt and 
byproducts of salt production as well as fused magnesia and 
magnesium oxide.

Other Businesses include the aerosol business and information 
and electronic materials business.

(2) Changes to reportable segments
Effective from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, in the past, R&D 
expenses in new business areas were recorded in each reportable 
segment, however, in order to more appropriately evaluate the 
performance of each segment, the Company has reviewed its 
business management methods and changed to a method of 
recording them as part of expenses related to the head office 
divisions in the amount of adjustments to segment income.

Segment information for the previous fiscal year ended March 
31, 2020 is prepared based on the new segmentation and calculation 
method.

(3) Information on reportable segments
The accounting methods used for reportable operating segments 
are the same as those that have been adopted for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements.

Reportable segment profit is operating profit. Intersegment 
revenue and transfers are based on prevailing market prices.
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FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Reportable segments

Adjustments
(Note)

ConsolidatedIndustrial Gas 
Business

Chemical 
Business

Medical 
Business

Energy
Business

Agriculture
and Food
Products 
Business

Logistics 
Business

Seawater 
Business

Other 
Businesses

Total

Revenue            

Revenue from external 
customers 188,965 27,479 187,913 51,969 137,298 50,413 39,986 125,057 809,083 － 809,083

Intersegment revenue or 
transfers 9,854 149 294 3,030 783 15,878 357 2,340 32,689 (32,689) －

Total 198,819 27,628 188,208 55,000 138,082 66,292 40,344 127,398 841,773 (32,689) 809,083

Segment profit 19,246 1,338 10,459 4,251 3,282 2,396 2,935 7,338 51,249 (632) 50,616

Finance income           1,395

Finance costs           (2,181)

Profit before
income tax           49,830

Segment assets 242,869 44,421 128,012 32,235 80,782 45,377 64,577 144,228 782,505 117,194 899,699

Other items            

Depreciation and 
amortization 14,414 1,553 3,052 2,402 4,102 2,142 2,994 4,332 34,994 － 34,994

Impairment loss － 992 － － 20 － － － 1,012 － 1,012

Gains on equity-method 
investments 109 － 539 21 71 － 26 836 1,605 － 1,605

Investments accounted for 
using equity method 1,879 － 10,887 865 101 － 432 14,336 28,503 － 28,503

Capital expenditures 20,957 1,735 4,621 3,450 6,720 8,123 9,345 6,701 61,655 1,244 62,900

Note 1: Adjustments of intersegment revenue or transfers of -32,689 million yen are elimination of intersegment transactions.
Note 2:  Adjustments of segment profit of -632 million yen are related to the elimination of intersegment transactions and profit or loss of the Company's corporate divisions not 

allocated to reportable segments.
Note 3:  Adjustments of segment assets of 117,194 million yen are related to the elimination of intersegment assets and corporate assets not allocated to reportable segments. 

Corporate assets are mainly cash and deposits, financial assets and shared corporate facilities not attributable to reportable segments.
Note 4: Adjustments of capital expenditures of 1,244 million yen are mainly corporate assets not attributable to reportable segments.
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FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Reportable segments

Adjustments
(Note)

ConsolidatedIndustrial Gas 
Business

Chemical 
Business

Medical 
Business

Energy 
Business

Agriculture
and Food 
Products 
Business

Logistics 
Business

Seawater 
Business

Other 
Businesses

Total

Revenue            

Revenue from external 
customers 185,579 33,357 186,425 53,085 132,569 53,291 40,971 121,349 806,630 － 806,630

Intersegment revenue or 
transfers 6,379 290 357 2,653 759 16,791 421 2,806 30,458 (30,458) －

Total 191,958 33,647 186,783 55,739 133,328 70,083 41,392 124,156 837,089 (30,458) 806,630

Segment profit 20,864 1,992 10,504 4,558 4,029 2,831 3,082 4,853 52,717 (1,486) 51,231

Finance income           1,128

Finance costs           (2,707)

Profit before income tax           49,651

Segment assets 250,399 45,379 132,828 32,104 77,354 51,863 68,797 148,234 806,961 119,859 926,821

Other items            

Depreciation and 
amortization 15,542 1,600 3,111 2,715 4,662 2,827 3,222 5,349 39,033 － 39,033

Impairment loss 6 47 － － 0 － － － 54 506 560

Gains on equity-method 
investments 125 － 1,147 8 32 － 205 767 2,287 － 2,287

Investments accounted for 
using equity method 1,962 － 11,815 115 130 － 744 14,920 29,689 － 29,689

Capital expenditures 17,631 2,570 5,526 3,054 2,578 6,732 8,436 2,663 49,190 2,782 51,972

Note 1: Adjustments for intersegment revenue or transfers of -30,458 million yen are elimination of intersegment transactions.
Note 2:  Adjustments of segment profit of -1,486 million yen are related to the elimination of intersegment transactions and profit or loss of the Company's corporate divisions 

not allocated to reportable segments.
Note 3:  Adjustments of segment assets of 119,859 million yen are related to the elimination of intersegment assets and corporate assets not allocated to reportable segments. 

Corporate assets are mainly cash and deposits, financial assets and shared corporate facilities not attributable to reportable segments.
Note 4: Adjustments of impairment loss of 506 million yen are related to corporate assets not allocated to reportable segments.
Note 5: Adjustments of capital expenditures of 2,782 million yen are mainly corporate assets not attributable to reportable segments.

(4) Information by product and service
The description of information by product and service is omitted 
because the same information is disclosed in segment information.

(5) Information by geographic area
1) Revenue
The description of information by geographic area is omitted 
because revenue from external customers in Japan accounts for a 
majority of the revenue in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss.

2) Non-current assets
The breakdown of non-current assets by geographic area is as 
follows:
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Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Japan 505,252 526,611

United States 4,882 5,275

India 44,490 45,917

Other 11,796 13,249

Total 566,422 591,053

(6) Information by major customer
Information by major customer is omitted because there is no single external customer that accounts for 10% or more of revenue.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Cash and deposits 41,861 45,983

Total 41,861 45,983

The balance of cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of financial position matches the balance of that in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets 
measured at amortized cost.

6. Trade and Other Receivables

The breakdown of trade and other receivables is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Accounts receivable - trade 152,114 151,387

Notes receivable - trade 19,053 17,538

Electronically recorded monetary claims 12,195 13,911

Other 4,038 5,826

Total 187,402 188,664

Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.
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7. Inventories

The breakdown of Inventories is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Merchandise and finished goods 36,921 37,245

Work in process 10,628 12,494

Raw materials and supplies 16,865 17,940

Total 64,415 67,679

The amount of write-down of inventories recognized as expenses was 315 million yen and 520 million yen for the fiscal years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2021, respectively. The amount of write-down of inventories is included in cost of sales.

8. Other Financial Assets

(1) Breakdown
The breakdown of other financial assets is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Deposits 1,277 1,236

Equity securities 50,242 56,859

Loans receivable 7,391 6,607

Derivative assets 4,626 4,064

Other 4,622 3,650

Total 68,160 72,418

Current assets 5,794 4,590

Non-current assets 62,365 67,827

Total 68,160 72,418

Equity securities are classified as equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. Derivative assets are 
classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. Other assets are classified mainly as financial assets measured at 
the amortized cost.

(2)  Equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

All equity securities are held mainly for the purpose of maintaining 
and strengthening business relationships and are therefore, 
classified as equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.

1) Names and fair value of major equity instruments
Names and fair value of major equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income were as follows:
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Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Daikin Industries, Ltd. 4,562 7,591

Nitto Boseki Co., Ltd. 4,164 4,127

Morita Holdings Corporation 2,715 3,124

Nakayama Steel Works, Ltd. 1,798 2,065

ENEOS Holdings, Inc. 1,495 1,817

2) Dividend income
The breakdown of dividend income on major equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Investments derecognized during the fiscal year 4 3

Investments held as of the fiscal year-end 1,051 761

Total 1,056 764

3) Derecognized equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Some of the equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income were disposed of during the fiscal year after 
reviewing business relationships. The fair value and accumulated gains and losses at the time of disposal were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Fair value at sale 1,019 1,412

Accumulated gains (losses) 147 (108)

Accumulated gains and losses recognized as other components of equity are reclassified to retained earnings when equity instruments are 
sold or their fair value significantly declines compared to their acquisition cost. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, 577 million yen (47 
million yen in the previous fiscal year) was reclassified from other components of equity to retained earnings.

9. Other Assets

The breakdown of other assets is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Contract assets 20,344 18,393

Prepaid expenses 3,456 4,599

Other 8,506 4,213

Total 32,307 27,206

Current assets 30,813 25,411

Non-current assets 1,494 1,795

Total 32,307 27,206
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment

The acquisition cost, accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, and carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

Millions of yen

Carrying amount Buildings and 
structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture and 

fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Balance at March 31, 2019 79,592 114,752 7,183 72,219 58,323 21 332,093

 Acquisition (Note) 4,251 7,319 1,426 1,864 48,783 3 63,648

Transfer from construction 
in progress 18,508 57,634 3,314 2,774 (82,244) 11 －

Acquisitions through 
business combinations 4,678 10,840 693 7,770 503 358 24,844

 Depreciation (6,607) (22,862) (2,694) (224) － (21) (32,411)

 Impairment loss (493) (410) (21) － － － (925)

 Disposals (2,179) (1,787) (104) (866) (97) － (5,036)

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations

(85) (755) (28) (85) (62) (22) (1,039)

 Other 21 (19) 33 7 (932) 1 (888)

Balance at March 31, 2020 97,684 164,711 9,802 83,459 24,273 352 380,284

 Acquisition (Note) 2,890 6,577 1,006 448 39,692 1 50,616

Transfer from construction 
in progress 10,975 24,302 2,547 1,575 (39,410) 9 －

Acquisitions through 
business combinations 1,137 948 702 2,772 22 (17) 5,565

 Depreciation (7,385) (24,707) (3,052) (219) － (6) (35,371)

 Impairment loss (182) (137) (10) (187) － － (518)

 Disposals (366) (1,112) (141) (134) (45) － (1,800)

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations

(43) 710 (35) 17 10 (7) 652

 Other 4 5,260 (162) 89 (682) (331) 4,177

Balance at March 31, 2021 104,714 176,553 10,656 87,820 23,859 － 403,604

Note: Right-of-use assets included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are described in Note 13. "Leases."
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Millions of yen

Acquisition cost Buildings and 
structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture, and 

fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Balance at March 31, 2020 209,663 442,995 39,029 85,171 25,259 376 802,496

Balance at March 31, 2021 223,399 476,277 41,217 89,827 24,845 － 855,567

Note: There were no significant borrowing costs included in the acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021.

Millions of yen

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss

Buildings and 
structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture, and 

fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Balance at March 31, 2020 (111,979) (278,284) (29,226) (1,712) (985) (23) (422,212)

Balance at March 31, 2021 (118,684) (299,724) (30,561) (2,006) (985) － (451,962)
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11. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The acquisition cost, accumulated amortization and impairment loss, and carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets are as follows:

Millions of yen

Carrying amount Goodwill
Intangible assets

Software Other Total

Balance at April 1, 2019 22,775 11,548 3,081 14,629

 Individual acquisitions － 2,238 79 2,318

 Acquisitions through business combinations 43,898 87 5,335 5,422

 Amortization － (1,648) (935) (2,583)

 Impairment loss － － (86) (86)

 Disposals － (76) (1) (78)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations (2,627) (0) 2 1

 Other (40) (471) 200 (271)

Balance at March 31, 2020 64,005 11,678 7,674 19,352

 Individual acquisitions － 1,188 173 1,362

 Acquisitions through business combinations 3,075 6 562 569

 Amortization － (1,806) (1,856) (3,662)

 Impairment loss － － (0) (0)

 Disposals － (2) (10) (13)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations 95 0 538 539

 Other (14,181) 566 9,682 10,249

Balance at March 31, 2021 52,994 11,631 16,765 28,397

Note: Amortization of intangible assets is included in "Cost of sales" and "Selling, general and administrative expenses" in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.
There were no significant internally generated intangible assets as of March 31, 2019 and March 21, 2020.
Research and development expenses recognized as expenses in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2019 and 2020 were 3,422 million yen and 3,978 million yen, respectively.

Millions of yen

Acquisition cost Goodwill
Intangible assets

Software Other Total

Balance at March 31, 2020 67,924 21,052 13,315 34,367

Balance at March 31, 2021 56,913 22,665 24,314 46,979

Millions of yen

Accumulated amortization and impairment loss Goodwill
Intangible assets

Software Other Total

Balance at March 31, 2020 (3,918) (9,374) (5,640) (15,014)

Balance at March 31, 2021 (3,919) (11,033) (7,548) (18,582)
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12. Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets

(1) Impairment loss

FY2019 (As of March 31, 2020)

Segments Types of assets Impairment loss (millions of yen)

Chemical Business Machinery and vehicles, other 992

Agriculture and Food Products Business Buildings and structures, other 20

Total 1,012

The Chemical Business recognized impairment loss mainly because it 
had decided to close a production plant in China with no prospect of 
resuming operations. Specifically, the carrying amounts of individual 
assets were reduced to their recoverable amounts, and impairment 
loss was accounted for in "Other expenses" in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss.

When recognizing and measuring impairment loss, the 
recoverable amount is measured based on value in use or fair value 
less costs of disposal, and significant assets are evaluated based 

mainly on real estate appraisal values assessed by a third party using 
a market approach. The fair value hierarchy is classified as level 3 
because a valuation technique that includes unobservable inputs 
such as sales prices is used.

Value in use is calculated by discounting future cash flows by 
7.0% (before tax) using a discount rate that reasonably reflects a 
rate of return considered to be a market average that reflects risks 
inherent in the cash-generating unit.

FY2020 (As of March 31, 2021)

Segments Types of assets Impairment loss (millions of yen)

Industrial Gas Business Machinery and vehicles, other 6

Chemical Business Machinery and vehicles, other 47

Agriculture and Food Products Business Buildings and structures, other 0

Corporate assets Buildings and structures, other 506

Total 560

Corporate assets recognized impairment losses primarily for offices 
where the decision was made to exit. Specifically, the carrying 
amounts of individual assets were reduced to their recoverable 
amounts, and impairment loss was accounted for in "Other 
expenses" in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

When recognizing and measuring impairment loss, the 
recoverable amount is measured based on value in use or fair value 
less costs of disposal, and significant assets are evaluated based 

mainly on real estate appraisal values assessed by a third party using 
a market approach. The fair value hierarchy is classified as level 3 
because a valuation technique that includes unobservable inputs 
such as sales prices is used.

Value in use is calculated by discounting future cash flows by 
7.0% (before tax) using a discount rate that reasonably reflects a 
rate of return considered to be a market average that reflects risks 
inherent in the cash-generating unit.
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(2) Impairment tests on goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
business combinations. Allocations of goodwill to cash-generating units are as follows:

Millions of yen

Reportable segments Cash-generating unit
Goodwill

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Industrial Gas Business Air Water India Pte. Ltd. and other 37,729 24,127

Chemical Business Filwel Co., Ltd., and other 1,218 1,218

Medical Business Globalwide International Pte. Ltd. and other 3,893 3,901

Energy Business Pacific Petro Import And Export Trading Jsc 
and other 1,283 2,812

Agriculture and Food Products 
Business Saveur SS Inc. and other 6,906 6,799

Logistics Business Katsura Commerce Co., Ltd., and other 302 1,503

Seawater Business Aquaintec Inc. and other 8 8

Other Businesses Power Partners Pte. Ltd. and other 12,662 12,623

Total 64,005 52,994

The recoverable amount of cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated is the higher of its use value and fair value less 
costs of disposal.

The value in use with the estimated future cash flows discounted 
to the present value based on management-approved business 
plans. The business plans, which in principle should cover no more 
than five years, are based on external information and reflect past 
experience. Plans to expand revenue are subject to uncertainties, 
and these management judgments could materially affect estimates 
of future cash flows. Cash flows beyond the period covered by the 
business plans are calculated based on an estimated growth rate 
that is no higher than the long-term average growth rate of the 
market to which the cash-generating unit belongs. Pretax discount 

rates are calculated based on pretax weighted average capital cost 
and the like with 6.9%-17.7% used for the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2020, and 7.0%-17.1% for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.

In measuring fair value less costs of disposal, the Company 
uses an appropriate valuation model (market approach) supported 
by available fair value indicators. The calculation methods used in 
measuring fair value and the selection of comparable companies 
involve a high degree of expertise.

The recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU is 
considered unlikely to be less than its carrying amount even if there 
is a reasonable range of change in the key assumptions used in the 
impairment test.
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13. Leases

(1) Leases as lessee
1) Lease related expenses, cash flows and increases in right-of-use assets
Lease related expenses, cash flows and increases in right-of-use assets were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

 Buildings and structures 448 622

 Machinery and vehicles 3,645 3,974

 Tools, furniture, and fixtures 119 77

 Other 245 243

 Total 4,458 4,917

Interest expense on lease liabilities 482 461

Lease expenses under exemption for short-term leases 7,604 7,626

Lease expenses under exemption for low-value assets 2,672 3,117

Increases in right-of-use assets 6,593 2,961

Gains and losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions were not significant.

2) Total amount of lease cash outflows

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Total amount of lease cash outflows 16,788 17,152

3) Balances of right-of-use assets included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The balances of right-of-use assets included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were as follows.

Millions of yen

Buildings and 
structures

Machinery and 
vehicles

Tools, furniture 
and fixtures Other Total

Balance at April 1, 2019 2,438 26,555 336 2,060 31,389

 Acquisitions 1,833 3,834 233 89 5,991

 Business combinations 147 339 11 102 602

 Depreciation (448) (3,645) (119) (245) (4,458)

 Other (974) (154) 22 (306) (1,412)

Balance at March 31, 2020 2,996 26,929 484 1,700 32,111

 Acquisitions 503 1,774 113 340 2,732

 Business combinations － 196 0 32 228

 Depreciation (622) (3,974) (77) (243) (4,917)

 Other 10 (233) (73) (52) (349)

Balance at March 31, 2021 2,887 24,693 447 1,778 29,806
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4) Maturity analysis of lease liabilities

Millions of yen

End of FY2019 (March 31, 2020)

1 year or less Over 1 year to
2 years

Over 2 years to
3 years

Over 3 years to
4 years

Over 4 years to
5 years Over 5 years

Lease liabilities 5,187 4,414 3,841 3,376 3,194 13,200

Millions of yen

End of FY2020 (March 31, 2021)

1 year or less Over 1 year to
2 years

Over 2 years to
3 years

Over 3 years to
4 years

Over 4 years to
5 years Over 5 years

Lease liabilities 5,056 4,272 3,783 3,440 3,388 10,370

5) Supplementary information on lease contracts as lessee
a. The nature of the lessee's leasing activities
The Group leases certain offices, land, production facilities, vehicles 
and the like under cancellable and noncancellable contracts. 
The terms of lease contracts vary widely as they are individually 
negotiated.

b. Extension and termination options
Each entity in the Group is responsible for managing leases with 
the terms of the leases varying widely as they are negotiated 
individually.

Extension and termination options are included in many of 
the Group's real estate and facility leases and used to maximize 
operational flexibility in light of contract management.

They are mostly extension options over a period of one year or 
the same period as that of their underlying contracts or options to 
terminate contracts early by giving a six month to one year notice to 
the other party.

These options are employed by a party to lease contract as 
necessary in the course of using real estate and facilities.

c. Residual value guarantee
Certain lease contracts of the Group include a residual value 
guarantee. If the Group is reasonably certain to pay the residual 
value guarantee at lease maturity, the amount expected to be 
paid is included in right-of-use assets with a portion expensed as 
amortization of right-of-use assets and a portion as interest cost on 
lease liabilities.

d. Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group leases gas supply facilities through sale and leaseback 
transactions. If a sale and leaseback transaction is determined to be 
a sale, a portion of the gain or loss on the sale corresponding to the 
right-of-use asset is deferred. In addition, if it is determined not to 
be a sale, it is deemed a financial transaction with financial liabilities 
recognized.
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14. Income taxes

(1) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The breakdown of and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities by major cause are as follows:

Millions of yen

Consolidated statements of financial position Consolidated statements of profit or loss

End of FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

End of FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to
March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to
March 31, 2021)

Deferred tax assets

Property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets 5,218 4,561 611 (611)

 Retirement benefit liability 3,484 2,489 86 501

 Accrued bonuses 2,182 2,341 (51) 159

Accounts payable - other and accrued 
expenses 1,553 1,763 238 210

 Tax loss carryforwards 587 4,249 (370) 3,663

 Other 2,936 2,935 (308) (268)

Total deferred tax assets 15,962 18,342 205 3,655

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 10,474 15,147 175 3,936

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income

3,537 6,376 － －

 Retained earnings 407 699 12 292

 Other 3,466 3,085 506 513

Total deferred tax liabilities 17,886 25,309 694 4,742

Net amount of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities (1,923) (6,966) (488) (1,086)

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Balance at beginning of the year 2,743 (1,923)

 Recognized in profit or loss (488) (1,086)

 Recognized in other comprehensive income (1,621) (3,236)

 Business combinations (2,627) (692)

 Other 70 (26)

Balance at end of the year (1,923) (6,966)
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(2) Deductible temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards for unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deductible temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards for unrecognized deferred tax assets were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Deductible temporary differences 41,898 43,433

Tax loss carryforwards 7,432 2,131

Tax loss carryforwards for unrecognized deferred tax assets were to expire as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

1st year 27 569

2nd year 1,315 216

3rd year 374 85

4th year 320 67

After 5th year 5,394 1,193

Total 7,432 2,131

In Japan, the Group applied for approval of the consolidated taxation system during the fiscal year under review, and the consolidated taxation 
system will be applied from the following fiscal year. Accordingly, from the fiscal year under review, the accounting treatment is based on 
the assumption that the consolidated taxation system will be applied. The amounts of deductible temporary differences and operating loss 
carryforwards for which deferred tax assets related to local taxes (inhabitant taxes and enterprise taxes) that are not subject to this system 
are not recognized are not included in the above. The amount of deductible temporary differences related to local taxes (inhabitant tax and 
enterprise tax) is 3.428 billion yen at the end of the current fiscal year, and the amount of loss carried forward is 14.561 billion yen at the end of 
the current fiscal year. The operating loss carryforwards related to local taxes expire 10 years.

(3) Deferred tax assets dependent on future taxable income
Certain subsidiaries recognized tax loss carryforwards in the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021. For these tax loss 
carryforwards, the Group recognized deferred tax assets of 4,249 
million yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 to the extent that 
it expected to generate future taxable income in that fiscal year (tax 
loss carryforwards of 587 million yen in the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2020). The recoverability of deferred tax assets depends on the 
generation of future taxable income. The future taxable income used 
in recognition of deferred tax assets is assumed under management 
approved business plans. Since the realizability of future taxable 
income is high based on past plans and actual results, the Group has 
determined that deferred tax assets are recoverable.

(4) Income tax expense
The breakdown of income tax expense is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Current tax expense 15,594 18,141

Deferred tax expense 488 1,086

Total income tax expense 16,083 19,228

 Continuing operations 16,085 19,292

 Discontinued operations (1) (64)

Deferred tax expense includes the amount of previously unrecognized tax loss, tax credits or benefits arising from temporary differences from 
prior periods and the amount of write-downs or reversal of previous write-downs of deferred tax assets. Deferred income taxes decreased by 
5,794 million yen and 14 million yen in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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(5) Reconciliation of applicable tax rates
The Group is subject to taxes including mainly income taxes, 
inhabitant taxes and enterprise taxes. The statutory effective tax rate 
calculated based on these was 30.6% in the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2020 and 2021. Subsidiaries abroad, however, are subject to 
income taxes in their respective locations of residency.

Reconciliation between the statutory effective tax rate and the 
average actual tax rate of continuing operations was as follows. The 
average actual tax rate represents the ratio of income taxes to profit 
before income tax.

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Statutory effective tax rate 30.6% 30.6%

Non-tax deductibles 1.3% 0.7%

Gains or losses on equity-method investments (1.0)% (1.4)%

Gain on bargain purchases (1.3)% －

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 3.1% 3.7%

Impact of tax law reform in India － 9.5%

Effect of consolidated tax payment － (3.6)%

Other (0.5)% (0.8)%

Average actual tax rate 32.3% 38.7%

(6) Income tax expense recognized directly in equity
The details of income taxes recognized directly in equity are as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Income tax expense

Expenses directly required for capital increase through new 
share issuance 69 －

Total 69 －

15. Trade and Other Payables

The breakdown of trade and other payables is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Accounts payable - trade 99,846 100,083

Notes payable - trade 13,222 10,513

Accounts payable - other 11,800 12,710

Other 13,075 12,408

Total 137,945 135,716

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities measured at the amortized cost.
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16. Bonds and borrowings

Bonds and borrowings are measured mainly at the amortized cost.

(1) Breakdown
FY2019

(As of March 31, 2020)
(Millions of yen)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

(Millions of yen)

Average interest rate
(%)

(Note 1)
Maturity

Current portion of bonds payable 
(Note 2) 10,150 － － －

Short-term borrowings 69,425 39,347 0.87 －

Current portion of long-term 
borrowings 24,206 16,432 0.52 －

Payables under fluidity lease receivables 1,604 857 0.17 －

Bonds payable (excluding current 
portion) (Note 2) 30,100 40,100 0.36 2023-2030

Long-term borrowings (excluding 
current portion) 165,548 210,776 0.33 2022-2040

Total 301,034 307,513 － －

Current liabilities 105,386 56,636 － －

Non-current liabilities 195,648 250,876 － －

Note 1: The average interest rate shows the weighted average rate of interest on the closing balance of borrowings and the like.
Note 2: A summary of the terms of bonds payable by issue was as follows:

Company name Issue Issue date
FY2019

(As of March 31, 2020) 
(Millions of yen)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021) 

(Millions of yen)

Interest 
rate (%) Collateral Maturity

Air Water Inc.
The second 
unsecured 

bonds

September 30,
2015

10,000
(10,000) － 0.271 None September 3, 

2020

Air Water Inc.
The third 

unsecured 
bonds

March 16,
2018 10,000 10,000 0.355 None February 29, 

2028

Air Water Inc.
The fourth 
unsecured 

bonds

September 7,
2018 10,000 10,000 0.405 None August 31, 

2028

Air Water Inc.
The fifth 

unsecured 
bonds

March 13,
2020 10,000 10,000 0.290 None February 28, 

2030

Air Water Inc.
The sixth 

unsecured 
bonds

June 19,
2020 － 10,000 0.380 None May 31,

2030

Mikata Co., Ltd.
The sixth 

unsecured 
bonds

December 25,
2015

150
(150) － 0.230 None December 25, 

2020

Mikata Co., Ltd.
The seventh 
unsecured 

bonds

March 16,
2018 100 100 0.260 None March 16,

2023

Total － － 40,250
(10,150) 40,100 － － －

Note: The figures in the brackets show amounts maturing within one year.
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(2) Assets pledged as collateral
The Group's assets pledged as collateral and obligations secured by the collateral were as follows:
Assets pledged as collateral

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Cash and cash equivalents 1,110 1,827

Trade and other receivables 1,873 2,054

Inventories 2,342 2,455

Property, plant and equipment 19,281 18,204

Other financial assets 1,045 962

Total 25,654 25,505

Secured obligations Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Trade and other payables 2,474 2,867

Bonds and borrowings (current) 2,913 5,010

Bonds and borrowings (non-current) 9,261 9,376

Total 14,649 17,255

17. Provisions

(1) Schedule of changes in provisions
Changes in provisions were as follows:

Millions of yen

Asset retirement 
obligations

Provision for loss 
on construction 

contracts
Other Total

Balance at April 1, 2020 2,232 41 1,292 3,566

 Increases 13 287 384 685

 Decreases (utilized for intended purpose) (14) (72) (414) (500)

 Decreases (reversal) － (12) (25) (37)

 Other 5 － 6 11

Balance at March 31, 2021 2,237 244 1,243 3,725

Current and non-current classification of provisions in the consolidated statements of financial position was as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Current 1,211 893

Non-current 2,354 2,831

Total provisions 3,566 3,725
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(2) Details of provisions
When the Group assumes, due to acquisition, construction, 
development, or the ordinary use of property, plant and equipment, 
contractual obligations under laws and regulations on the 
retirement of property, plant and equipment, the Group records 
asset retirement obligations in the amount of future expenditures 
required for the retirement.

The timing of the outflow of economic benefits is principally 

expected to be later than one year from the last day of each fiscal 
year but is affected by factors such as future business plans.

Provision for loss on construction contracts is recorded for losses 
expected to be incurred in the next and subsequent fiscal years on 
construction contracts on which such losses are expected and the 
amount of the losses can be reasonably estimated.

Other includes provision for product warranties.

18. Other Financial Liabilities

19. Other Liabilities

The breakdown of other financial liabilities is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Lease liabilities 33,214 30,312

Derivative liabilities 268 156

Put options granted to non-controlling shareholders 8,682 8,135

Other 1,848 3,118

Total 44,013 41,722

Current liabilities 5,426 6,221

Non-current liabilities 38,586 35,501

Total 44,013 41,722

Derivative liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are classified 
principally as financial liabilities measured at the amortized cost. For information on lease liabilities, see Note 13. "Leases."

The breakdown of other liabilities is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Contract liabilities 3,751 5,219

Unearned revenue 2,533 2,247

Deferred income 3,185 2,764

Accrued bonuses 7,794 8,085

Accrued expenses 7,803 7,884

Other 8,575 9,746

Total 33,644 35,947

Current liabilities 25,020 27,799

Non-current liabilities 8,623 8,148

Total 33,644 35,947
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20. Employee Benefits

(1) Overview of retirement benefit plans
The Company and some of its consolidated subsidiaries have 
adopted funded and nonfunded defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans to provide for employee retirement benefits.
Defined benefit plans adopted by the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries are mainly cash balance plans. The amount of benefits 
to be provided is based on years of service, participants' standard 
salary by job qualification and interest rates calculated using an 
interest crediting rate based on market interest trends. Pension trust 
contracts and life insurance contracts are entered into with asset 
management institutions for the management and investment of 
funds with the institutions assuming the responsibility to invest plan 
assets in accordance with prescribed policies. In addition, retirement 

lump-sum benefit plans (unfunded plans and certain plans funded 
as a result of setting up a retirement benefit trust) make lump-sum 
payments as retirement benefits based on years of service, salary or 
points based on performance, etc. Certain consolidated subsidiaries 
participate in a smaller enterprise retirement allowance mutual aid 
system and a specific retirement allowance mutual aid system. 

(2) Defined benefit plans
1) Amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements
Defined benefit plan in the consolidated statements of financial 
position were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Present value of defined benefit obligations 38,487 38,109

Fair value of plan assets (31,682) (36,333)

Effect of asset ceiling 24 2,456

Net defined benefit liabilities 6,829 4,232

Retirement benefit liability 9,918 9,727

Retirement benefit assets (3,088) (5,494)

Net defined benefit liabilities 6,829 4,232

For defined benefit plans, amounts recognized as expenses in the consolidated statements of profit or loss were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Service cost 2,357 2,269

Interest expense 171 193

Interest income (149) (210)

Total 2,378 2,253
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2) Reconciliation schedule for the present value of defined benefit obligations
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of the year 38,872 38,487

Service cost 2,357 2,269

Interest expense 171 193

Remeasurements

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic 
assumptions 0 (3)

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions (902) (363)

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments 324 12

Benefits paid (2,868) (2,476)

Effects of business combinations and disposals 466 77

Other changes 65 (88)

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end of the year 38,487 38,109

3) Reconciliation schedule for fair value of plan assets
Changes in fair value of plan assets were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 33,985 31,682

Interest income 149 210

Remeasurements (1,459) 4,423

Contributions by the employer 1,013 1,513

Benefits paid (1,977) (1,559)

Other changes (29) 63

Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 31,682 36,333

4) Breakdown by type of fair value of plan assets
The breakdown by type of fair value of plan assets is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Quoted prices in active 
markets Total

Quoted prices in active 
markets Total

Yes No Yes No

Equity securities 8,950 － 8,950 12,523 － 12,523

Debt securities 7,622 － 7,622 7,907 － 7,907

Life insurance general accounts － 7,104 7,104 － 7,293 7,293

Other － 8,004 8,004 － 8,609 8,609

Total 16,572 15,109 31,682 20,430 15,902 36,333
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5) Changes in the effect of asset ceiling
Changes in the effect of asset ceiling were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Balance of the effect of asset ceiling at beginning of the year 26 24

Interest income － －

Remeasurements
Effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset 

ceiling
(2) 2,432

Balance of the effect of asset ceiling at end of the year 24 2,456

6) Actuarial assumptions
Main assumptions used in calculating the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Discount rates (mainly)  0.60%  0.65%

If discount rates, which are key actuarial assumptions, change, the present value of defined benefit obligations at the end of fiscal years 
2019 and 2020 changes as follows. This sensitivity analysis assumes that all actuarial assumptions except for those subject to the analysis are 
constant.

Millions of yen

Changes in 
assumptions

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Discount rate
0.5% increase (1,950) (2,028)

0.5% decrease 2,091 2,253

7) Asset-liability matching strategy
Under the Group's investment policy for plan assets, the investment 
objective is to earn, within tolerable risk limits, necessary total 
returns over the medium to long term to ensure benefit payments 
for defined benefit obligations into the future. The Group aims to 
reduce risks with investment diversification by investing plan assets 
in equity instruments, bond instruments and life insurance general 
accounts in and outside Japan according to asset allocation targets 
with a strategic asset mix set to achieve its investment targets.

Asset allocation to maintain over the medium to long term 
is based on expected returns and the correlation between asset 
classes over the medium to long term. The asset allocation is 
reviewed as necessary such as when the environment has changed 
significantly.

8) Effect of defined benefit plans on future cash flows
(i)    The amount of contributions to defined benefit plans is 

determined by regularly reviewing actuarial valuations to 
balance pension funding for the future. In reviewing actuarial 
valuations, assumptions used to set the amount of contributions 

(e.g., the assumed interest rate, mortality rate and withdrawal 
rate) are reviewed to verify the appropriate amount of 
contributions.

(ii)   The amount of contributions in the fiscal year ending March 31, 
2021 is expected to be 1,281 million yen.

(iii)  The weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 was mainly 17.3 years 
(mainly 15.1 years in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019).

(3) Defined contribution plans
The amount recorded as expenses for defined contribution plans 
was 769 million yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 (602 
million yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019).

(4) Employee benefit expenses
Total employee benefit expenses included in cost of sales and 
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss was 123,550 million yen in the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2020 (116,319 million yen in the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2019).
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21. Equity and Other Equity Items

(1) Share capital and treasury shares

(Share)

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Type of shares Common shares without par value Common shares without par value

Authorized shares 480,000,000 480,000,000

Issued shares (Note 1)

 At beginning of the year 198,705,057 229,755,057

 Changes during the year (Note 2) 31,050,000 －

 At end of the year 229,755,057 229,755,057

Treasury shares

 At beginning of the year 2,943,138 2,362,804

 Changes during the year (Note 3) (580,334) 1,632,455

 At end of the year 2,362,804 3,995,259

Note 1: All issued shares are fully paid.
Note 2: Increased because of a capital increase through a public offering with a paid-in date of December 10, 2019 and a capital increase through a third-party allotment of 

shares with a paid-in date of December 27, 2019.
Note 3: Changes during the year ended March 31, 2020 in treasury shares were due mainly to sales by the stock ownership trust and the exercise of stock options. Also changes 

during the year ended March 31, 2021 was mainly due to the acquisition of a shareholding association trust, the share exchange related to the conversion of Nihon 
Kaisui Co., Ltd. into a wholly owned subsidiary, and the off-auction purchase of treasury shares.

(2) Capital surplus
Capital surplus consists of legal capital surplus that represents 
amounts not included in share capital at the time of ordinary 
issuance of new shares and issuance of new shares by exercise of 
share acquisition rights, and other capital surplus that represents 
amounts other than legal capital surplus.

The Companies Act of Japan prescribes that one half or more 
of the paid-in capital or benefits at the time of the issuance of 
shares shall be incorporated into share capital with the remainder 
incorporated into the legal capital surplus. The legal capital surplus 
may be incorporated into the share capital by a resolution adopted 
at a meeting of the shareholders.

Share acquisition cost of 158 million yen is excluded from any 
capital surplus.

(3) Other components of equity
1) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans is for the effects of 
differences between the actuarial assumptions at the beginning 
of the year and actuarial experience and the effects of changes in 
the actuarial assumptions themselves. These remeasurements are 
recognized in other comprehensive income when they occur and 
are immediately transferred from other components of equity to 
retained earnings.

2) Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Exchange differences on the translation of foreign operations are 
exchange differences arising at the time of translating financial 
statements of foreign operations prepared in foreign currencies to 
Japanese yen, the presentation currency.

3) Net change in fair value of financial assets measured through 
other comprehensive income

Net change in fair value of financial assets measured through other 
comprehensive income represents valuation differences between 
the valuation at fair value and the valuation at acquisition cost of 
financial instruments whose fair value changes are designated as 
measured through other comprehensive income.

4) Effective portion of fair value changes in cash flow hedges
The effective portion of fair value changes in cash flow hedges is the 
effective portion of hedges in the accumulated net change in fair 
value of derivative transactions designated as cash flow hedges.

5) Share acquisition rights
The Company has adopted a stock option plan based on share 
acquisition rights and grants share acquisition rights in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act of Japan. The amount 
recorded as share acquisition rights in other components of equity 
is based on their fair value, and their contractual terms are described 
in Note 22. "Share-Based Remuneration."

6) Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted 
for using equity method

The share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted 
for using the equity method includes financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income, remeasurements 
of defined benefit plans and exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations.
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(4) Retained earnings and dividends
1) Retained earnings
Retained earnings consist of those recognized in profit or loss in or 
before the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, and those transferred 
from other comprehensive income.

The Companies Act of Japan prescribes that until the sum of the 
legal capital surplus and legal retained earnings reaches one-fourth 
of the share capital, one-tenth of the amount of the deduction 

from the surplus as a result of distributing the surplus as dividends 
needs to be set aside either as legal capital surplus or legal retained 
earnings.

Accumulated legal retained earnings may be used to cover 
losses. Also, legal retained earnings may be reduced by a resolution 
adopted at a meeting of the shareholders.

2) Dividends
(i) Dividends paid

FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors' 
meeting on May 

14, 2019
Common shares 4,122 21 March 31, 2019 June 27, 2019

Note: The total amount of dividends includes 11 million yen in dividends on the Company's shares held by the stock ownership trust.

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors'
meeting on

November 7, 2019
Common shares 3,938 20 September 30, 

2019
December 2, 

2019

Note: The total amount of dividends includes 7 million yen in dividends on the Company's shares held by the stock ownership trust.

FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors'
 meeting on 
May 28, 2020

Common shares 5,460 24 March 31, 2020 June 30, 2020

Note: The total amount of dividends includes 2 million yen in dividends on the Company's shares held by the stock ownership trust.

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors'
 meeting on 

November 12, 2020
Common shares 5,007 22 September 30, 

2020
December 1, 

2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 46

(ii) Dividends whose record date falls in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, but whose effective date falls in the following fiscal year

FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Total amount of 
dividends

(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors'
 meeting on
May 28, 2020

Common shares Retained earnings 5,460 24 March 31, 2020 June 30, 2020

Note: The total amount of dividends includes 2 million yen in dividends on the Company's shares held by the stock ownership trust.

FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Resolution date Type of shares
Total amount of 

dividends
(Millions of yen)

Total amount of
 dividends

(Millions of yen)

Dividend per share
(Yen) Record date Effective date

Board of directors'
 meeting on 
May 12, 2021

Common shares Retained earnings 5,033 22 March 31, 2021 June 28, 2021

Note: The total amount of dividends includes 66 million yen in dividends on the Company's shares held by the stock ownership trust.
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22. Share-Based Remuneration

The Company has adopted a stock option plan and a restricted stock 
award plan.

The objective of this plan is to increase motivation and morale 
of directors to enhance the Company's business performance 
and corporate value over the medium to long term by further 
strengthening the link to the Company's performance and stock 
price with directors sharing not only the benefit of increases but 
also the risk of declines in the stock price.

Also the Company abolished a stock remuneration-type 
stock option plan for the Company's directors (excluding external 
directors) with a decision not to newly allot share acquisition rights 
to the Company's directors (excluding external directors) as stock 
remuneration-type stock options going forward, except for those 
already allotted.

(1) Stock remuneration-type stock option plan
1) Terms of stock options
(i)   Grantees

The Company's directors (excluding external directors)
(ii)  Vesting conditions

Loss of status as director of the Company
(iii) Exercise period of stock options granted

For no more than five years after vesting within a period of 20 
years from the grant date

(iv) Payment method
Share-based payment

2) Restricted stock award plan

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Number of shares (Share) Number of shares (Share)

Unexercised stock options outstanding at beginning of the year 350,800 273,000

 Granted － －

 Exercised (Notes 1 and 2) (77,800) (13,100)

 Expired at maturity － －

Unexercised stock options outstanding at end of the year 273,000 259,900

Exercisable stock options outstanding at end of the year 3,200 3,200

Note 1: All stock options are granted at an exercise price of 1 yen per share.
Note 2: The weighted average stock price at the time of exercise in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, was 1,538.2 yen (1,579.6 yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020.)

3) Range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining life of unexercised stock options at end of the year
The exercise price of unexercised stock options was 1 yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, and the weighted average 
remaining life was 4.9 years in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
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(2) Restricted share-based remuneration plan
In order for the Company's directors (excluding external directors) to share the benefits and risks of share price fluctuations with shareholders 
and be committed to increase the share price and corporate value more than ever before, a restricted share-based remuneration plan was 
introduced in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.

The details of shares with transfer restrictions granted during the year are as follows:

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Grant date August 1, 2019 August 3, 2020

Number of shares with transfer restrictions granted 52,831 shares 78,816 shares

Fair value at grant date 1,774 yen per share 1,502 yen per share

Fair value measurement method

Fair values are calculated based on 
the closing price of the Company's 
common shares on the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange on the business day 
preceding the date of the resolution 
by the board of directors.

Fair values are calculated based 
on the closing price of the 
Company's common shares on 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange on the 
business day preceding the date 
of the resolution by the board of 
directors.

Transfer restriction period 30 years 30 years

3) Share-based payment expenses
Expenses related to share-based remuneration plans included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2020 were 90 million yen (79 million yen in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019.)
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The credit risk ratings of financial assets that fall in the same 
classification in the table are determined to be largely the same.

Provision for doubtful accounts is stated below. In the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2021, Provision for doubtful accounts is included 
in "trade and other receivables" and "other financial assets" in the 
consolidated statements of financial position.

2) Information on amounts arising from expected credit losses
The balances of assets subject to provision for doubtful accounts were as follows:

Millions of yen

Classification FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses 210,971 207,528

Measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses 4,138 4,527

Measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses － －

Measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (credit impairment) 5,104 2,615

23. Financial Instruments

(1) Capital management
The Group's capital management policy is to maintain a robust 
capital base for the purpose of preserving the trust of investors, 
creditors and markets and sustaining the development of its 
business in the future. Management monitors not only the level 
of dividend payments to common shareholders but also return on 
equity (ROE). Equity refers to total equity attributable to the owners 

of the parent in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
The board of directors manages capital using ROE.

To achieve the objectives described above, the Group may issue 
new shares.

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, there was no change to 
the Group's initiatives concerning capital management.

The Group's ROE is as follows.

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Equity (million yen) 331,992 357,797

Total assets (million yen) 899,699 926,821

Return on equity (ROE) (%) 36.9 38.6

(2) Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to financial risks (credit risk, liquidity risk 
and market risk) in the course of conducting business activities. It 
manages risks in accordance with certain policies to avoid or reduce 
such risks. The Group uses derivatives only for the purposes of 
avoiding foreign exchange risks associated with import and export 
transactions for trade and interest rate risks associated with long-
term borrowings and does not engage in derivative transactions for 
speculative purposes.

(3) Credit risk
1) Overview
Trade and other receivables and contract assets that arise in the 
course of the Group's business are exposed to the credit risks 
of customers. For these risks, the Group manages due dates 
and balances by counterparty while at the same time capturing 
the credit position of major counterparties when necessary in 
accordance with the Group's internal rules. For the execution 
and management of derivative transactions, the finance division 

executes them with approval obtained using a decision request 
circular (Ringi) in accordance with prescribed internal rules when 
the Group engages in import and export transactions that involve 
entering into forward exchange contracts. In cases of long-term 
loan financing that involves entering into interest rate swaps and 
interest rate option contracts, a Ringi approval is adopted with the 
finance division making the proposal under the prescribed internal 
rules with the details reported to the board of directors. The Group 
uses major financial institutions for all of its derivative transactions, 
and, therefore, credit risk is considered limited.

With the Group not exposed to any significant credit risk of a 
specific counterparty, there is no excessive concentration of credit 
risk that requires special management.

The maximum exposure to the credit risks of financial assets is 
the carrying amount after impairment presented in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. The maximum exposure to the 
credit risks of guarantee obligations is the amount of guarantee 
obligations stated in Note 36. "Contingencies," and the risk is de 
minimis.
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Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Financial assets with 
provision for doubtful 

accounts always 
measured at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECL

Credit-impaired 
financial assets

Financial assets with 
provision for doubtful 

accounts always 
measured at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECL

Credit-impaired 
financial assets

Balance at beginning of the year 253 4,935 231 5,049

Increases during the year 245 563 55 377

Decreases during the year
 (utilized for intended purposes) (35) (286) (96) (2,679)

Decreases during the year 
(reversals) (43) (163) (95) (59)

Changes due to business 
combinations (239) － 13 0

Other changes 51 0 357 (352)

Balance at end of the year 231 5,049 466 2,336

Note: Provision for doubtful accounts decreased in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 due to the liquidation of business partners.

(4) Liquidity risk
1) Overview
The Group raises funds through borrowings and bonds payable. 
Such liabilities are exposed to the liquidity risk of inability to execute 
payments on the due dates owing to reasons such as a deterioration 
in the funding environment.

The Group develops funding plans based on annual business 
plans in accordance with the Group's basic policy on financial 
operations while the Company's finance division regularly captures 
and summarizes liquidity on hand and interest-bearing liabilities 
and reports them to the Company's board of directors.
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2) Maturity Analysis
The balances by maturity of financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) were as follows:

FY2019 (As of March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
 cash flows

1 year or 
less 

Over 1 year
 to 2 years

Over 2 years
 to 3 years

Over 3 years
 to 4 years

Over 4 years 
to 5 years

Over 
5 years

Nonderivative liabilities

 Trade and other payables 137,945 137,945 137,945 － － － － －

 Bonds and borrowings 301,034 304,949 105,765 16,745 23,656 29,781 29,356 99,643

 Other financial liabilities 43,744 45,542 5,644 10,442 4,117 3,697 6,206 15,435

Subtotal 482,724 488,437 249,354 27,187 27,773 33,479 35,563 115,078

Derivative liabilities

 Forward exchange contracts 11 11 11 － － － － －

 Interest rate swap contracts 256 256 49 － 4 171 － 30

Subtotal 268 268 61 － 4 171 － 30

Guarantee obligations － 17,446 17,446 － － － － －

Total 482,992 506,151 266,862 27,187 27,778 33,650 35,563 115,108

FY2020 (As of March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
 cash flows

1 year or 
less

Over 1 year
 to 2 years

Over 2 years
 to 3 years

Over 3 years
 to 4 years

Over 4 years 
to 5 years

Over 
5 years

Nonderivative liabilities

 Trade and other payables 135,716 135,716 135,716 － － － － －

 Bonds and borrowings 307,513 312,281 56,850 25,646 33,227 31,442 48,469 116,645

 Other financial liabilities 41,566 41,566 12,950 4,272 3,783 4,842 3,388 12,328

Subtotal 484,797 489,564 205,517 29,918 37,010 36,285 51,857 128,974

Derivative liabilities

 Forward exchange contracts 4 4 4 － － － － －

 Interest rate swap contracts 151 151 － 3 120 － － 27

Subtotal 156 156 4 3 120 － － 27

Guarantee obligations － 25,488 25,488 － － － － －

Total 484,953 515,209 231,010 29,922 37,131 36,285 51,857 129,002
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(5) Market risk
1) Overview
The Group is exposed to risks associated with market fluctuations, 
such as foreign exchange and interest rate fluctuations, in the course 
of conducting business activities. The Group aims for risk reduction 
by properly managing market risks. For the purpose of properly 
managing market risks, the Group may use mainly derivative 
transactions, such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps. The Group executes and manages derivative transactions in 
accordance with internal rules that set forth the objectives, limits on 
use, scope of transactions, organizational structures and the like. The 
Group's use of derivative transactions is limited to risk avoidance 
based on actual needs and does not use derivatives for speculative 
purposes. Therefore, fair value changes in derivatives held by the 

Company, in principle, have the effect of offsetting changes in the 
fair value or the cash flows of corresponding transactions.

2) Foreign exchange risk
The Group engages in business abroad and is exposed to foreign 
exchange fluctuations in trading in foreign currencies. To mitigate 
the foreign exchange fluctuation risk, the Group uses forward 
exchange contracts and currency swaps for hedging as necessary.
(a) Exposure to foreign exchange risk
A summary of the quantitative data on exposure to foreign 
exchange risk provided to management of the Group based on its 
risk management policy of foreign exchange risk is as follows:

(b) Sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange risk
A sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange risk is omitted because the 
effect of foreign exchange fluctuations on profit or loss and equity is 
minimal.

3) Interest rate risk
The Group's floating rate portion of borrowings and bonds payable 

is exposed to interest rate risk. The Group hedges the risk using 
derivatives (interest rate swaps).
(a) Exposure to interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the interest rate risk is set forth in the table 
below: The amount of exposure excludes the amount for which 
interest rate risk is hedged using derivative transactions.

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

US dollar 2,618 714

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Net amount of exposure 7,236 10,728

(b) Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk
A sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is omitted because the effect of interest rate fluctuations on profit or loss and equity is minimal.
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4) Stock price fluctuation risk
The Group is exposed to the stock price fluctuation risk because 
the Group holds shares in entities with which the Group has 
operational relationships mainly for the purpose of strengthening 
and maintaining the relationships with trade partners. The Group 
regularly monitors market prices and the financial position of the 
stock issuers (trade partners) and regularly reviews its shareholding 
status in consideration of these relationships.
(a) Sensitivity analysis of stock price fluctuation risk
If the market price of equity instruments held by the Group at the 
fiscal year-end changed by 10%, its effect on other comprehensive 
income (before considering tax effect) would have been 3,134 
million and 3,832 million yen in the fiscal years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2021, respectively.

This analysis assumes that other variables remain constant.

(6) Derivatives and hedge accounting
1) Overview of hedges
The Group uses forward exchange contracts, currency swaps 
and interest rate swaps to hedge foreign currency denominated 
receivables and payables, forecast transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies, determine interest rate risks of bonds and 
borrowings and hedge foreign exchange risks. Hedge accounting is 
applied to those that satisfy hedging requirements. The Group does 
not use derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

For the execution and management of derivative transactions, 
the finance division executes the transactions with approval 
obtained using a decision request circular (Ringi) in accordance with 

prescribed internal rules when the Group engages in import and 
export transactions that involve entering into forward exchange 
contracts. In cases of long-term loan financing that involves entering 
into interest rate swap contracts, Ringi approval is adopted with the 
finance division making the proposal under the prescribed internal 
rules with the details reported to the board of directors. The Group 
uses major financial institutions for all of its derivative transactions. 
Therefore, credit risk is considered negligible.

When determining the economic relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument for the purpose of 
assessing hedge effectiveness, the Group bases the determination 
on whether it is expected to be highly effective in offsetting 
changes in value. As the Group designates forward exchange 
contracts and currency swap contracts as hedge instruments only 
for changes in spot rates, the major terms of the hedged item and 
the hedging instrument are the same. Therefore, major sources of 
hedge ineffectiveness that would be expected to affect the hedging 
relationship during its remaining term are limited. Also, interest 
rate swap contracts are used to fix floating interest rates, and major 
terms of the hedged item and the hedging instrument are the same. 
Therefore, major sources of hedge ineffectiveness that might be 
expected to affect the hedging relationship during its remaining 
term are limited.

The carrying amount of derivatives is the amount recorded 
in "other financial assets" or "other financial liabilities" in the 
consolidated statements of financial position, and derivatives with a 
term to maturity of more than one year are classified in non-current 
assets or non-current liabilities.

2) Information on items designated as hedging instrument
The effect of hedging instruments on the consolidated statements of financial position was as follows:

FY2019 (As of March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Contract amount, 
etc.

Carrying amount of hedging 
instruments Line item in the 

consolidated statements of
 financial position

Changes in fair value 
used to calculate 

ineffective portion 
of hedgesAssets Liabilities

Cash flow hedges

 Foreign exchange risk

 Forward exchange 
contracts 33,834 4,582 11 Other financial assets

Other financial liabilities 3,115

  Currency swaps 688 43 － Other financial assets 30

 Interest rate risk

 Interest rate swap 
contracts 23,192 － 256 Other financial liabilities 177
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FY2020 (As of March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Contract amount, 
etc.

Carrying amount of hedging 
instruments Line item in the 

consolidated statements of
 financial position

Changes in fair value
 used to calculate 

ineffective portion 
of hedgesAssets Liabilities

Cash flow hedges

 Foreign exchange risk

 Forward exchange 
contracts 27,819 4,021 4 Other financial assets, 

other financial liabilities (553)

  Currency swaps 786 42 － Other financial assets (0)

 Interest rate risk    

 Interest rate swap 
contracts 11,083 － 151 Other financial liabilities 104

3) Information on items designated as hedged items
The effect of hedged items on the consolidated statements of financial position was as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Changes in value used 
to calculate the 

ineffective portion of 
hedges for the year

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Changes in value used 
to calculate the

 ineffective portion of
 hedges for the year

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Cash flow hedges

 Foreign exchange risk

  Forecast transactions 3,115 1,810 (553) 1,593

 Foreign currency-
denominated borrowings 30 16 (0) 16

 Interest rate risk   

  Interest on borrowings 177 (177) 104 (105)
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4)  Effect of application of hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of profit or loss and the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income

The effect of hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated statements of profit or loss and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income was as follows. The amount of the ineffective portion of hedges was not material.

FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Gains and losses on hedges 
recognized in other comprehensive 

income during the reporting period

Amount of reclassification 
adjustments from cash flow hedge 

reserve to profit or loss

Amount of transfers from cash 
flow hedge reserve to acquisition 

cost of nonfinancial assets

Foreign 
exchange risk 3,145 － (312)

Interest rate risk 177 173 －

Note: The amount is before considering tax effects.

FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Gains and losses on hedges 
recognized in other comprehensive 

income during the reporting period

Amount of reclassification 
adjustments from cash flow hedge 

reserve to profit or loss

Amount of transfers from cash 
flow hedge reserve to acquisition 

cost of nonfinancial assets

Foreign 
exchange risk (120) － (412)

Interest rate risk (0) 104 －

Note: The amount is before considering tax effects.

5) Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting
Even in cases in which requirements for hedge accounting are not met, the Group uses derivative transactions if doing so is economically 
rational. Fair value changes of such derivative transactions are recognized in profit or loss.

(7) Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified into one of the following levels 
of the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used for fair value 
measurement.

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active 
markets

Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 that consist of prices that are 
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: Inputs that are not based on observable market data
Changes in level of classification of financial instruments are 

recognized to have occurred as of the last day of the reporting 
period. There were no significant changes in the hierarchy level of 
financial instruments in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2019 and 
2020.

1) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The methods used to measure the value of major financial 
instruments not measured at fair value are as follows:
a. Long-term loans receivable

The calculation method involves discounting the sum of the 
principal and interest by an interest rate assumed for a similar 
new loan.

b. Bonds payable
The calculation method involves discounting the sum of the 
principal and interest by an interest rate that considers the 
remaining term and credit risk of the bonds payable.

c. Long-term borrowings
The calculation method involves discounting the sum of the 
principal and interest by an interest rate assumed for similar new 
borrowing.
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The carrying amount and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments not measured at fair value are set forth in the tables below. Financial 
instruments whose carrying amounts approximate their fair values are not included in the following table.

a. FY2018 (As of March 31, 2019) Millions of yen

Carrying amount
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Long-term loans receivable (Note) 4,957 － － 4,957 4,957

Long-term borrowings (Note) 189,754 － － 190,593 190,593

Bonds payable (Note) 40,250 － 40,556 － 40,556

Note: The figure includes the balances to be recovered, repaid and redeemed within one year.

b. FY2019 (As of March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Carrying amount
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Long-term loans receivable (Note) 4,237 － － 4,266 4,266

Long-term borrowings (Note) 227,209 － － 226,858 226,858

Bonds payable (Note) 40,100 － 40,050 － 40,050

Note: The figure includes the balances to be recovered, repaid and redeemed within one year.

2) Financial instruments measured at fair value
The methods used to measure major financial instruments 
measured at fair value are as follows:
a. Derivatives

Derivatives classified into Level 2 are measured using prices 
presented by counterparty financial institutions.

b. Equity securities and investments in capital
The fair value of equity securities is determined using market 
prices at exchanges if they are listed equity securities classified 
into Level 1 and using reasonably available inputs with 
appropriate valuation techniques such as comparable company 
analysis if they are unlisted equity securities classified into Level 3. 
Certain illiquidity discounts are considered when necessary.
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The breakdown of financial instruments measured at fair value classified by fair value hierarchy level was as follows:

a. FY2019 (As of March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets     

 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

  Derivative assets － 4,626 － 4,626

  Other － 605 － 605

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
  comprehensive income

  Equity securities and investments in capital 31,343 － 18,898 50,242

Total 31,343 5,231 18,898 55,474

Financial liabilities     

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

  Derivative liabilities － 268 － 268

Total － 268 － 268

c. FY2020 (As of March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets     

 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

  Derivative assets － 4,064 － 4,064

  Other － 591 － 591

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
  comprehensive income     

  Equity securities and investments in capital 38,328 － 17,613 55,941

Total 38,328 4,655 17,613 60,596

Financial liabilities     

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

  Derivative liabilities － 156 － 156

Total － 156 － 156

Financial instruments classified into Level 3 consist mainly of 
unlisted equity securities, and the valuation method of the subject 
financial instruments is determined in accordance with the valuation 
policy and procedures on fair value measurement covering 
valuation methods approved by a person with proper authority. The 
results of these calculations are reviewed and approved by a person 
with proper authority.

Significant fair value changes in financial instruments classified 
into Level 3 are not expected if unobservable inputs are changed to 
reasonably possible alternative assumptions.
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Changes in financial instruments classified into Level 3 were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Balance at beginning of the year 18,122 18,898

Other comprehensive income (Note) (3,647) 402

Purchases 8,328 2,657

Sales (731) (56)

Liquidation － (1,146)

Change in scope of consolidation (3,182) (3,131)

Other changes 10 (10)

Balance at end of the year 18,898 17,613

Note: Included in "net change in fair value of financial assets measured through other comprehensive income" in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

(8) Transfer of assets that do not meet the criteria for 
derecognition

The Group securitizes some trade receivables by endorsing notes 
and by other methods. However, the securitized receivables include 
those for which the Group will retrospectively assume payment 
obligations if the obligor fails to make payments. Such securitized 
receivables do not satisfy the requirements for derecognition of 
financial assets and thus are not derecognized.

Such transferred assets were recorded in the amounts of 1,864 
million yen, 1,604 million yen, and 857 million yen on the Transition 

Date, March 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively, in "trade and other 
receivables" in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
Also, proceeds from the transfer of assets were recorded in "bonds 
and borrowings" (non-current liabilities) in the same amounts. The 
fair value of these reasonably approximates their carrying amount.

As IFRS 1 prohibits the retrospective application of 
derecognition of financial assets and liabilities, the Group applied 
it prospectively from the IFRS Transition Date. Therefore, at the 
Transition Date, the Group also derecognized the transferred assets 
described above under Japanese GAAP.



AIR WATER REPORT 2021 Financial Section59

24. Revenue

(1) Disaggregation of revenue
The Group, which consists of operating segments by product and 
service, records revenues generated from contracts with customers 
in the following eight reportable segments: the Industrial Gas 
Business, Chemical Business, Medical Business, Energy Business, 
Agriculture and Food Products Business, Logistics Business, 
Seawater Business and Other Businesses.

The Group's recognizes revenue disaggregated into three 
categories: sales of goods, equipment installations, and provision of 
services. The relationships between these disaggregated revenues 
and the Group's reportable segments were as follows:

FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Reportable segments

TotalIndustrial 
Gas 

Business

Chemical 
Business

Medical 
Business

Energy 
Business

Agriculture
 and Food 
Products 
Business

Logistics 
Business

Seawater 
Business

Other 
Businesses

Goods

 Gas 128,075 － 8,773 26,639 － － － － 163,489

 Other 22,147 27,479 82,066 12,707 134,245 － 33,844 86,354 398,844

Equipment 
installations 27,749 － 83,589 8,819 3,053 5,419 6,141 35,511 170,286

Provision of
   services 10,992 － 13,483 3,802 － 44,993 － 3,190 76,463

Total 188,965 27,479 187,913 51,969 137,298 50,413 39,986 125,057 809,083

FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Reportable segments

TotalIndustrial 
Gas 

Business

Chemical 
Business

Medical 
Business

Energy 
Business

Agriculture
 and Food 
Products 
Business

Logistics 
Business

Seawater 
Business

Other 
Businesses

Goods

 Gas 120,086 － 8,341 30,112 － － － － 158,540

 Other 21,436 33,357 81,624 11,070 129,328 － 33,959 87,261 398,039

Equipment 
installations 31,960 － 82,166 8,219 3,240 5,558 7,011 31,119 169,277

Provision of
   services 12,095 － 14,292 3,683 － 47,732 － 2,968 80,772

Total 185,579 33,357 186,425 53,085 132,569 53,291 40,971 121,349 806,630
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(2) Contract balances
The breakdown of the balances of contracts with customers is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(As of April 1, 2020)

FY2019
(As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(As of March 31, 2021)

Receivables from contracts with customers 182,283 183,363 182,837

Contract assets 11,875 20,344 18,393

Contract liabilities 2,400 3,751 5,219

The amount included in the contract liabilities (current) at the 
beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 but not 
recognized as revenue for the year is not significant.

Also, the amount of revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2020, from performance obligations satisfied (or partially 
satisfied) in previous years is not significant.

(3) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations

Since major performance obligations of the Group are part of the 
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or 
less, the Group omits disclosure on the aggregate amount of the 
transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are 

unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of March 31, 2020. There is no 
significant amount of consideration from contracts with customers 
not included in transaction prices.

(4) Assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract 
with a customer

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, the amount of assets 
recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with 
customers was not significant. When the amortization period 
of assets to be recognized is for one year or less, the Group uses 
the practical expedient of recognizing the incremental costs of 
obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred.

25. Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

The breakdown of selling, general and administrative expenses is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Salaries, benefits, and bonuses 47,290 49,642

Retirement benefit expenses 1,667 1,713

Freight and packing expenses 17,951 16,677

Depreciation and amortization 11,969 13,964

Other 56,504 53,399

Total 135,383 135,398
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27. Finance Income and Finance Costs

The breakdown of finance income is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Interest income

 Financial assets measured at amortized cost 167 200

 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 39 46

Dividend income

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 1,056 764

Other finance income 131 115

Total 1,395 1,128

The breakdown finance costs is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Interest expense

 Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 1,150 1,473

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 303 172

Foreign exchange loss 32 265

Other finance costs 695 795

Total 2,181 2,707

26. Other Income and Other Expenses

The breakdown of other income is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Gain on sale of fixed assets 1,734 513
Gain on bargain purchase 2,089 －
Government grant income 648 1,764
Other 4,649 4,489
Total 9,122 6,767

The breakdown of other expenses is as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Loss on sale and retirement of fixed assets 997 791

Loss on liquidation of business 1,277 －

Other 3,073 2,530

Total 5,348 3,321
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28. Discontinued Operations

(1) Overview of discontinued operations
On March 2018, the Company concluded an agreement to transfer 
its coke oven gas refinement business and business of selling by-
products generated from refinement in the Chemical Business, 
to Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Corporation (current Nippon 
Steel Corporation) and Nippon Steel & Sumikin Chemical Co., Ltd. 
(current Nippon Steel Chemical & Material Co., Ltd.) and completed 
the transfer on April 1, 2019. In association with this transfer, assets 
related to the Company's coke oven gas refinement business and 

business of selling byproducts generated from the refinement were 
classified in non-current assets held for sale, and gains and losses 
were classified in discontinued operations.

Also, a consolidated subsidiary in the Other Businesses dealing 
in the industrial gas, medical gas business and overseas trade 
discontinued its business activities in December 2018 as a result 
of the transfer of the business. The related gains and losses were 
classified in discontinued operations.

(2) Profit or loss from discontinued operations

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Profit or loss from discontinued operations

Revenue 77 48

Expenses (298) (61)

Profit (loss) before income tax (220) (12)

Income tax expense 1 64

Profit (loss) (218) 51

Profit (loss) attributable to:

Owners of parent (218) 51

Non-controlling interests － －

(4) Cash flows from discontinued operations

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Cash flows from operating activities (103) (44)

Cash flows from investing activities 14,195 －

Cash flows from financing activities (35) －

Total 14,056 (44)
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29. Other Comprehensive Income

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to 
March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Net change in fair value of financial assets measured through other comprehensive income

 Changes during the year (2,722) 11,928

 Tax effect (958) (2,454)

  After tax effect adjustments (3,681) 9,473

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

 Changes during the year (880) 2,344

 Tax effect 377 (731)

  After tax effect adjustments (503) 1,612

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using equity method

 Changes during the year 23 (6)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

 Changes during the year (3,387) 959

  After tax effect adjustments (3,387) 959

Effective portion of fair value changes in cash flow hedges

 Changes during the year 3,449 (120)

 Reclassification adjustments 173 104

 Tax effect (1,039) (49)

  After tax effect adjustments 2,583 (65)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using equity method

 Changes during the year 42 60

Total other comprehensive income (4,922) 12,035



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 64

30. Earnings Per Share

(1) Basic and diluted earnings per share

Yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Basic earnings (loss) per share 147.43 120.98

 Continuing operations 148.49 120.75

 Discontinued operations (1.06) 0.23

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 147.20 120.84

 Continuing operations 148.26 120.61

 Discontinued operations (1.06) 0.23

(2) Bases for calculating basic and diluted earnings per share
1) Profit attributable to common shareholders

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent 30,430 27,367

 Continuing operations 30,649 27,316

 Discontinued operations (218) 51

Diluted profit (loss) attributable to common shareholders 30,430 27,367

 Continuing operations 30,649 27,316

 Discontinued operations (218) 51

2) Average number of common shares during the year

Thousands of shares

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Average number of common shares during the year 206,407 226,221

 Increases in common shares due to stock options 319 264

 Average number of diluted common shares during the year 206,726 226,485
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31. Cash flow Information

32. Subsidiaries

(1) Noncash transactions
The details of major noncash transactions are as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Acquisition of assets related to lease transactions 5,991 2,732

Decrease in treasury shares as a result of stock exchange － 3,801

Increase in capital surplus as a result of stock exchange － 2,239

(2) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities were as follows:

FY2019 (April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020) Millions of yen

Balance at 
beginning 
of the year

Changes arising 
from cash flows

Noncash changes Balance 
at end 

of the year
Business 

combinations, etc. Other

Short-term borrowings 54,998 13,456 970 － 69,425

Payables under fluidity lease receivables 1,955 (351) － － 1,604

Long-term borrowings 156,511 27,843 6,201 (802) 189,754

Bonds payable 30,500 9,750 － － 40,250

Lease liabilities 32,976 (6,029) 630 5,637 33,214

Total 276,942 44,669 7,802 4,835 334,248

FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021) Millions of yen

Balance at 
beginning 
of the year

Changes arising 
from cash flows

Noncash changes Balance 
at end 

of the year
Business 

combinations, etc. Other

Short-term borrowings 69,425 (30,537) 311 148 39,347

Payables under fluidity lease receivables 1,604 (747) － － 857

Long-term borrowings 189,754 34,804 2,559 90 227,209

Bonds payable 40,250 (150) － － 40,100

Lease liabilities 33,214 (5,946) 229 2,814 30,312

Total 334,248 (2,576) 3,100 3,053 337,826

The status of major subsidiaries is described in "Item 1. Overview of Companies, 4. Status of Affiliated Companies."
There were no subsidiaries that had individually significant non-controlling interests at the Transition Date or for the fiscal years ended 

March 31, 2020 and 2021.
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33. Business Combinations

An overview of business combinations during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2020 is as follows.

There were no significant business combinations during the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2019.

1. Acquisition of part of the industrial gas business of Praxair India 
Private Limited and an investment in a subsidiary

The Company, through its Indian subsidiary, Air Water India Private 
Limited ("AW India"), entered into an agreement to acquire the 
business related to the manufacture, sale and distribution of oxygen, 
nitrogen and argon operated by Praxair India Private Limited 
("Praxair India") in East India on June 14, 2019 and completed the 
acquisition on July 12, 2019.

(1) Overview of business acquisition
1) Name of the counterparty
Praxair India

2) Description of business
Part of the business related to production, storage, delivery and 
sale of oxygen, nitrogen and argon in East India (including business 
related to storage, transport, and sales of trading products)

3) Acquisition date
July 12, 2019

(2) Objective of business acquisition
As for the acquired business, demand for industrial gases is expected 
to grow in India along with the general economic growth with a 
high proportion of it coming from the onsite gas supply business 
for blast furnace steel manufacturing in which the Company has 
extensive domestic operating know-how. This acquisition directly 
relates to the establishment of the upstream business in that it 
allows the Group to obtain new liquid gas production and supply 
bases. Also, the acquisition greatly contributes to the expansion 
of the Group's industrial gas business in India, given how its high 
medium- to long-term strategic complements the downstream 
business of Ellenbarrie Industrial Gases Ltd. ("Ellenbarrie"), a 
subsidiary of the Company supplying lorries and cylinders mainly in 
Eastern India.

AW India, a subsidiary of the Group, acquired the business, and 
the Company made an investment in AW India to provide it with 
funds necessary for the acquisition.

(3) Acquisition price

Millions of yen

Acquisition date
(July 12, 2019)

Cash 24,400

Total acquisition price 24,400

As expenses required directly for the acquisition, advisory and other fees of 444 million yen were recorded in "selling, general and 
administrative expenses" in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.
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(4) Amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were as follows:

Millions of yen

Amount

Current assets

 Trade and other receivables (Note) 1,282

 Inventories 110

 Other current assets 22

Total current assets 1,415

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 4,537

Total non-current assets 4,537

Total assets 5,953

Current liabilities 357

Non-current liabilities 23

Total liabilities 381

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 5,572

Note: Trade and other receivables consist of the total amount of receivables under contracts of 1,325 million yen, of which 42 million yen was expected to be uncollectible at the 
acquisition date.

(5) Goodwill from the acquisition

Millions of yen

Amount

Fair value of the acquisition price 24,400

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (5,572)

Goodwill from the acquisition 18,827

Note: Goodwill is based on a reasonable estimation of future excess earning power expected from future business operations of AW India. There is no amount of goodwill 
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

　　   As for the amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the business combination, the allocation of the acquisition price has not been completed 
with the identification of identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of the business combination being reviewed; therefore, the amount of goodwill has been calculated 
provisionally.

(6) Impact on the financial results of the Group
The Group omitted a description of the revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition date as well as the revenue and profit or 
loss of the combined entity had the business combination occurred at the beginning of the year because the impact was minor.
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2. Acquisition of part of the industrial gas business of Linde India 
Limited

The Company, through AW India, entered into an agreement 
to acquire the business related to the manufacture, sale and 
distribution of oxygen, nitrogen and argon operated by Linde India 
Limited ("Linde India") in South India on November 22, 2019, and 
completed the acquisition of the business on December 16, 2019.

(1) Overview of business acquisition
1) Name of the counterparty
Linde India

2) Description of business
Part of the business related to production, storage, delivery and sale 
of oxygen, nitrogen and argon in South India (including business 
related to storage, transport and sale of trading products)

3) Acquisition date
November 16, 2019

(2) Objective of business acquisition
The Company sees the enhancement of its overseas operations as 
a pillar of its future growth. The Company has positioned India as 
a focus area of its future overseas expansion and has intensified 
its efforts to expand operating bases there, for example, by 

acquiring Ellenbarrie, a local industrial gas manufacturer, in 2013 
and establishing AW India in 2014 for the purpose of conducting 
market research to launch a mix of the Group's various products and 
services.

As for the acquired business, the demand for industrial gases is 
expected to grow in India along with the general economic growth 
in India with a high proportion of it coming from the onsite gas 
supply business for blast furnace steel manufacturing in which the 
Company has extensive domestic operating know-how. In addition, 
by establishing strong trust relationships with customers through 
the stable supply of industrial gases, the Group aims to seize 
business opportunities that would arise along with future growth in 
crude steel production.

Furthermore, by bringing together the liquefied gas production, 
supply bases and customers in South India added by this acquisition 
and Ellenbarrie's business platform on which it operates merchant 
business mainly in East and Southeast India, the Group will expand 
its business in South India, where industry consolidation in the 
automobile and IT related sectors has accelerated, and the demand 
for industrial gases has significantly increased in recent years.

The Group is committed to cement its position in the industrial 
gas market in India by strategically leveraging the operating base 
in East India acquired earlier and the operating base in South India 
added by this acquisition as well as the existing management 
resources such as Ellenbarrie.

(3) Acquisition price

Millions of yen

Acquisition date
(As of December 16, 2019)

Cash 21,528

Total acquisition price 21,528

As expenses required directly for the acquisition, advisory fees of 399 million yen are recorded in "selling, general and administrative expenses" 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.
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(4) Amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were as follows:

Millions of yen

Amount

Current assets

 Trade and other receivables (Note) 515

 Inventories 135

 Other current assets 43

Total current assets 694

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 3,703

Total non-current assets 3,703

Total assets 4,398

Current liabilities 127

Non-current liabilities －

Total liabilities 127

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 4,270

Note: There is no amount of trade and other receivables expected to be uncollectible at the acquisition date.

(5) Goodwill from the acquisition

Millions of yen

Amount

Fair value of acquisition price 21,528

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (4,270)

Goodwill from the acquisition 17,257

Note: Goodwill is based on a reasonable estimation of future excess earning power expected from future business operations of AW India. There is no amount of goodwill 
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

As for the amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the business combination, the allocation of the acquisition price has not been completed 
with the identification of identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of the business combination being reviewed. Therefore, the amount of goodwill has been calculated 
provisionally.

(6) Impact on the financial results of the Group
The Group omitted a description of the revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition date as well as the revenue and profit or 
loss of the combined entity had the business combination occurred at the beginning of the year because the impact was minor.
FY2020 (April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)
(Determination of provisional accounting treatment for business 
combinations)
1. Acquisition of a portion of the industrial gases business of the 

Indian Praxair India Private Limited
For the business combination with Praxair India Private Limited on 
July 12, 2019, the allocation of the acquisition cost had not been 
completed in the previous fiscal year. As a result, the fair value of 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was provisional, but the 
allocation was completed in the first quarter of the fiscal year under 
review. Due to the finalization of the allocation of the acquisition 
consideration, the amount of goodwill has decreased by 6.638 billion 
yen. This was due to increases of ¥3.369 billion and ¥3.268 billion in 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, respectively.

2. Partial Acquisition of industrial gases business of Indian Linde 
India Limited 

For the business combination with Linde India Limited on December 
16, 2019, the allocation of the acquisition cost was not completed 
in the previous consolidated fiscal year, and therefore the fair value 
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were provisional 
amounts. The allocation was completed in the third quarter of the 
current fiscal year. Due to the finalization of the allocation of the 
acquisition consideration, the amount of goodwill has decreased 
by 9.558 billion yen. This was due to increases of ¥2.493 billion and 
¥7.065 billion in property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets, respectively.
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34. Related Parties

35. Commitments

36. Contingencies

37. Subsequent Events

Compensation to key management personnel was as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
(April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020)

FY2020
(April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021)

Fixed compensation 761 511

Bonuses 180 186

Restricted share-based remuneration 90 57

Total 1,032 756

Commitments related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

Millions of yen

FY2019
 (As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
 (As of March 31, 2021)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2,444 344

Guarantee obligations
The Group has guarantee obligations for borrowings from financial institutions.

FY2019
 (As of March 31, 2020)

FY2020
 (As of March 31, 2021)

Bank borrowings by associates, etc. 17,405 22,694

Bank borrowings by employees 8 6

Other 31 2,787

Total 17,446 25,488

Not applicable
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[English Translation of the Independent Auditor's Report Originally Issued in Japanese Language]

Independent Auditor's Report on 
the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Board of Directors of AIR WATER INC. June 25, 2021

KPMG AZSA LLC
     Osaka Office, Japan

Kazuhiro Matsuyama (Seal)
Designated Limited Liability Partner
Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

Tatsuya Kido (Seal)
Designated Limited Liability Partner
Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

Hiroto Fujimoto (Seal)
Designated Limited Liability Partner
Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of AIR WATER INC. ("the Company") and its consolidated 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "the Group") provided 
in the "Financial Information" section in the company's Annual 
Report, which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position as at March 31, 2021 and the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and 
notes in accordance with Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at March 31, 2021, and its consolidated 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
prescribed in Artilce 93 of "the Regulation on Terminology, Forms, 
and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements" 
(hereinafter referred to as "IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in Japan. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Validity of judgments regarding the necessity of recognizing impairment losses on goodwill

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Goodwill of 52,994 million yen was recorded in the consolidated 
statement of financial position of the Company, which accounted 
for 5.7% of total assets.

As described in "3. Significant Accounting Policies (10) Impairment 
of Non-Financial Assets" in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, cash-generating units including goodwill are tested 
for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist or at 
least annually. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable 
amount, and the reduction in the carrying amount is recognized 
as an impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.

As described in "12. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets" in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the future cash 
flows used to measure value in use are estimated based on 
business plans prepared by management, etc. However, there 
are uncertainties associated with plans such as the expansion 
of sales revenue, and these judgments by management have a 
material impact on estimates of the future cash flows. In addition, 
the selection of the calculation methods and input data adopted 
in determining the discount rate used to measure value in use 
requires a high degree of expertise.

In addition, the calculation techniques used to measure fair value 
and the selection of comparable companies require a high degree 
of expertise.

Based on the foregoing, we have determined that the validity of 
judgments regarding the necessity of recognizing impairment 
losses on goodwill is particularly important in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year and 
falls under the category of "Key Audit Matters".

To validate our judgments regarding the necessity of recognizing 
impairment losses on goodwill, we primarily performed the 
following procedures. For overseas consolidated subsidiaries for 
which significant goodwill is recorded in the financial statements 
of the subsidiaries, the Company instructed its auditors to conduct 
audits to evaluate whether sufficient and appropriate audit 
evidence has been obtained. 

(1) Internal control assessments
The effectiveness of the design and operation of internal controls 
related to the measurement of the recoverable amount in the 
impairment test of cash-generating units, including goodwill, was 
assessed. 

(2)  Verification of the reasonableness of estimates of recoverable 
amounts

With regard to estimating the recoverable amounts in the 
impairment test of cash-generating units including goodwill, the 
following procedures were mainly performed.

・Value in use
We asked management about the key assumptions and data 
used in the preparation of the business plan, etc. that served as 
the basis for estimating future cash flows, and checked against 
the supporting documents. We also utilized experts in the 
valuation of the network firm to which we belong to review the 
reasonableness of the discount rate.

・Fair value
We utilized network firm valuation experts to review the 
reasonableness of the model for determining fair value and 
primarily to review the reasonableness of the selection of 
comparable companies.
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Responsibilities of Management and Corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
in accordance with IFRS.

Corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors are 
responsible for overseeing the directors' performance of their duties 
including the design, implementation and maintenance of the 
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit process to perform the following:

⃝ �Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks. The procedures selected depend on 
our judgement, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

⃝ �Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, while the objective of the audit is not to express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

⃝ �Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management. 

⃝ �Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

⃝ �Evaluate whether the presentation and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements are in accordance with 
IFRS, the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

⃝ �Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion. 

We communicate with corporate auditors and the board of 
corporate auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide corporate auditors and the board of corporate 
auditors with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements in Japan regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards in order to eliminate or reduce 
obstruction factors.

From the matters communicated with corporate auditors and 
the board of corporate auditors, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Interest in the company

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any 
interest in the Company and its subsidiaries which are required 

to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public 
Accountants Act of Japan.

Notes to the reader of audit report:

The Independent Auditor's Report herein is the English translation 
of the Independent Auditor's Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as required by the Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan ("the FIEAJ") 

and does not include the English translation of the Independent 
Auditor's Report on the internal control audits as required by the 
Article 193-2, Paragraph 2 of the FIEAJ. 




